
  P a g e  |  0  

 

 

  

Department of 
Racing, Gaming and 
Liquor 
2011/12 Annual Report 
 

 

 



P a g e  | 1 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

 

Contacts..................................................................................................................................... 2 

Statement of Compliance ........................................................................................................... 3 

Overview of Agency ................................................................................................................... 4 

Operational Structure ............................................................................................................. 6 

Performance Management Framework ..................................................................................11 

Agency Performance.................................................................................................................12 

Report on Operations ............................................................................................................12 

Liquor Licensing Program ......................................................................................................13 

Compliance Program .............................................................................................................21 

Significant Issues Impacting The Agency ..................................................................................25 

Beyond Gambling Grants Program ...........................................................................................43 

Disclosures and Legal Compliance ...........................................................................................46 

Detailed Information in Support of Key Performance Indicators .............................................82 

Ministerial Directives ..............................................................................................................89 

Other Financial Disclosures ...................................................................................................89 

Governance Disclosures .......................................................................................................91 

Other Legal Requirements .....................................................................................................92 

Government Policy Requirements .........................................................................................94 

 

  



P a g e  | 2 

CONTACTS 

 

Office location:  Level 1 

87 Adelaide Terrace 

East Perth WA 6004 

 

Postal address:  PO Box 6119 

East Perth WA 6892 

 

Telephone:   (08) 9425 1888 

Facsimile:   (08) 9325 1041 

Toll free:   1800 634 541 

 

Internet:   www.rgl.wa.gov.au  

Email:   rgl@rgl.wa.gov.au 

 
 
 
AVAILABILITY IN OTHER FORMATS 
 
This publication can be made available in alternative formats such as compact disc, 
audiotape or Braille. The report is available in PDF format at www.rgl.wa.gov.au 
 
People who have a hearing or speech impairment may call the National Relay Service 
on 133 677 and quote telephone number (08) 9425 1888. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

http://www.rgl.wa.gov.au/
mailto:rgl@rgl.wa.gov.au
http://www.rgl.wa.gov.au/
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STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE 

 
Hon. Terry Waldron, MLA 
MINISTER FOR RACING AND GAMING 
 
 
 
 
 
 
In accordance with section 61 of the Financial Management Act 2006, I hereby submit, 
for your information and presentation to Parliament, the Annual Report of the 
Department of Racing, Gaming and Liquor for the financial year ended 30 June 2012. 
 
The Annual Report has been prepared in accordance with the provisions of the 
Financial Management Act 2006. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Barry A Sargeant 
DIRECTOR GENERAL 
 
 
19 September 2012 
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OVERVIEW OF AGENCY 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

I am pleased to present the Department of Racing, Gaming and Liquor‟s Annual Report 
for 2011/12. This report is designed to outline the Department‟s activities and to satisfy 
its statutory reporting requirements.  
 
One of the Department‟s key achievements during the year was the continued 
implementation of the Government‟s liquor reforms, resulting in Part 5B of the Liquor 
Control Act 1988, relating to the declaration of private premises as liquor restricted 
premises, coming into operation on 8 October 2011. 
 
Part 5B of the Act allows a private premises to be declared a restricted premises. Once 
a declaration is made, it becomes an offence for a person to bring into, consume or 
possess liquor on those premises for a specified period. Declarations may be varied or 
revoked by the Director of Liquor Licensing. As at 30 June, a total of 56 premises have 
been declared restricted. 
 
Other noteworthy technical and operational amendments that came into effect during 
the year include: 
 

 Changes to the Liquor Control Act 1988 mean a number of situations that would 
previously have required a liquor licence have been given exemptions under 
regulations that were introduced during the year.  The first of these surrounds the 
issue of live entertainment venues (LEVs) whereby patrons bring their own alcohol 
to the venue, with the consumption of liquor being secondary to the provision of 
entertainment.  The second exemption relates to small functions that would usually 
have required the organiser to apply for an occasional liquor licence.  It is important 
to note that these exemptions do not provide the means by which to establish a 
permanent business in the sale and supply of liquor.   
 

 Amendments to the Liquor Control Act 1988 introduced a new framework for 
approved managers that came into effect during the year. The amendments mean a 
significant reduction in administrative commitments on behalf of licensees. The new 
framework also provides greater flexibility for managers to move between licensed 
premises without licensees having to apply to the licensing authority.  There are two 
categories of approved manager. The unrestricted category is required for managers 
at commercial licence venues such as taverns, liquor stores and so on, while the 
restricted category is required by managers at club and club restricted premises. 
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The Department will have implemented a new organisational structure by the time this 
report is tabled.  
 
The restructure has combined the licensing and compliance areas into industry domains 
of liquor and gambling. The shift towards a domain-based structure provides the 
opportunity to appropriately align roles and responsibilities within divisions to maximise 
service delivery to customers and stakeholders.  
 
Under the new structure, the Department comprises five directorates: Liquor Regulation; 
Gambling Regulation; Strategic Regulation; Administrative Law; and Governance and 
Strategy. As part of the process, a number of new positions have replaced those that 
were in place under the old structure.  
 
To enable the Department to deliver modern, effective and efficient services by 
providing online licensing services to the Western Australian community, it will spend 
$4.36 million over the next two years to develop and implement a new information 
technology licensing system.  
 
In February 2012, the new Course in Management of Licensed Premises (52473WA) 
was approved by the Training Accreditation Council of WA. The course was created to 
reflect the requirements of current legislation as well as industry needs. New licensees 
and new unrestricted approved managers will be required to complete the one-day core 
unit of the Course in Management of Licensed Premises.  
 
The Department and its staff continued to provide a range of services to the Western 
Australian public. More than 15,000 liquor licensing applications were processed. 
Additionally, more than 2200 community gaming applications were processed which 
included allowing eligible organisations to raise funds through gaming functions and 
raffles. 
 
Inspectors and other officers from the Department conducted more than 7900 
compliance actions throughout Western Australia, including audits and inspections of 
wagering, community gaming, liquor and casino activities. 
 
Finally, the achievements of the Department would not have been possible without the 
efforts and dedication of the staff. I take this opportunity to thank them for their 
commitment to providing a professional service to the Western Australian community.  
 
 
 
 
Barry A Sargeant 
DIRECTOR GENERAL 
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OPERATIONAL STRUCTURE 

ENABLING LEGISLATION 

The Department of Racing, Gaming and Liquor is established as a Department under 
section 35 of the Public Sector Management Act 1994. 
 
 
RESPONSIBLE MINISTER 

The Minister responsible for the Racing and Gaming Portfolio was the Honourable Terry 
Waldron MLA, Minister for Sport and Recreation; Racing and Gaming. 
 
 
MISSION, VISION AND VALUES 

The Department of Racing, Gaming and Liquor is responsible for regulating and 
maintaining the integrity of lawful racing, gambling and liquor activities in Western 
Australia. 
 
The Department exercises its responsibilities through the licensing of suppliers and 
industry support services and is committed to continuous development of its staff to 
deliver services and meet community and industry expectations. 
 
The mission and vision of the Department is to regulate the liquor and gambling 
industries in Western Australia with integrity. 
 
The core values of the Department are respect, integrity, professionalism and 
innovation.  
 
 
CORPORATE EXECUTIVE 

Mr Barry Sargeant, Director General 

Barry Sargeant is the Accountable Officer for the Department of Racing, Gaming and 
Liquor, a position he has held since 1992. As Director General, Mr Sargeant is the 
administrative head and Accountable Officer for the operations of the Department of 
Racing, Gaming and Liquor. He is also the employing authority for all staff. 
 
Mr Sargeant also holds the statutory positions of Director of Liquor Licensing and, in an 
ex officio capacity, Chairman of the Gaming and Wagering Commission of Western 
Australia.  
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Mr Michael Connolly, Deputy Director General 

Michael Connolly has 30 years experience in the public sector, including 20 years in 
various regulatory roles within the Department. In addition to his experience, he holds 
the qualifications of Bachelor of Science (Security) and Bachelor of Business 
(Accounting).  
 
Mr Connolly leads the implementation of policies and initiatives relevant to the 
regulation of the liquor and gambling industries.  
 
Mr Connolly also supports the Director General in establishing and refining the strategic 
direction of the Department and overseeing the operational management of the 
Department. He is responsible for exercising high level statutory authority and 
delegations and for making legally binding decisions. 
 
As at 30 June 2012, Michael was responsible for overseeing the Licensing and 
Compliance divisions.  
 

Ms Janine Belling Director Licensing 

Janine Belling left the Department on June 28, 2012.  Ms Belling had more than 20 
years experience in the public sector and has been employed at both State and 
Commonwealth Government level. She also held the statutory position of Chief Casino 
Officer under the Gaming and Wagering Commission Act 1987.  
 
The Licensing Division was responsible for all licensing functions relating to the liquor, 
casino, racing, gaming, and wagering industries. The Division comprised a Licensing 
section, Policy section and a Customer and Client Liaison section.  
 
The Licensing section undertook a processing and licensing function in relation to 
applications relevant to the liquor, casino, racing, gaming, and wagering industries. The 
Customer and Client Liaison section provided a general advisory service to those 
industries. 
 
The Policy section was responsible for developing and implementing strategic 
operational policy. It was also responsible for undertaking reviews of legislation, that is 
consistent with Government direction and legislative and customer requirements with 
respect to matters relating to the liquor, casino, racing, gaming, and wagering 
industries. 
 
Senior members of the Division determined applications in accordance with relevant 
legislation and delegation, and provided high level support to the Director General in 
relation to the regulation of the liquor, casino, racing, gaming, and wagering industries. 
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Ms Vanessa Grant, Acting Director Compliance  

Vanessa Grant has more than 20 years experience in both the WA State Public Sector 
and Australian Public Service. She joined the Department in December 2008 following 
five years as Director Business Services with the Corruption and Crime Commission. 
Ms Grant has qualifications in Public Administration. 
 
The Compliance Division was responsible for conducting a program of audits and 
inspections to promote compliance with legislation related to the liquor, casino, racing, 
gaming, and wagering industries.  
 
The Division also investigated complaints and breaches of legislation, and initiated 
corrective action that included education, assisting parties with dispute resolution or 
disciplinary action such as infringement notices or prosecution. 
 

Mr Santo Mannino, Acting Director Governance and Strategy 

Santo Mannino has 32 years experience in the public sector including 27 years with the 
Department in various management roles in compliance, licensing and recently 
Governance and Strategy.  
 
The Governance and Strategy Division is responsible for the provision of operational 
and strategic financial, human resources, information technology, information 
management, planning and executive support services. 
 

DEPARTMENTAL ORGANISATIONAL CHART AS AT 30 JUNE 2012 
 

  

Director General 

Governance and Strategy 

Finance 

Organisational 
Development 

Information 
Management 

Executive  

Services 

IT Research and 
Development 

Deputy Director General 

Licensing 

Licensing and 
Approvals 

Licensing 
Policy 

Client  
Services 

Compliance 

Compliance 
Audits 

Inspections 
and 

Investigations 



P a g e  | 9 

KEY FUNCTIONS OF THE DEPARTMENT 

The Department is engaged in a range of activities and provides a number of core 
services to the public of Western Australia to ensure that its objectives and desired 
outcomes are achieved. The Department provides: 

 Licensing, inspectorial and audit services for the liquor and gambling industries. 

 Expertise and experience in structuring legislation and policy relevant to the liquor 
and gambling industries. 

 Information and support to stakeholders, and programs designed to raise awareness 
of relevant legislation and policies. 

 
In addition, the Department also provides support services to the Gaming and Wagering 
Commission of Western Australia; the Liquor Commission of Western Australia, the 
Racing Penalties Appeals Tribunal, the Gaming Community Trust and the Problem 
Gambling Support Services Committee.  
 
 

ADMINISTERED LEGISLATION 

The Minister for Racing and Gaming administers the following Acts: 

 Betting Control Act 1954; 

 Bookmakers Betting Levy Act 1954;  

 Casino (Burswood Island) Agreement Act 1985;  

 Casino Control Act 1984;  

 Gaming and Betting (Contracts and Securities) Act 1985; 

 Gaming and Wagering Commission Act 1987;  

 Liquor Control Act 1988; 

 Racing and Wagering Western Australia Act 2003; 

 Racing and Wagering Western Australia Tax Act 2003; 

 Racing Bets Levy Act 2009; 

 Racing Penalties (Appeals) Act 1990; 

 Racing Restriction Act 2003; 

 The Western Australian Turf Club Act 1892; 

 Western Australian Greyhound Racing Association Act 1981; 

 Western Australian Trotting Association Act 1946; and 

 Western Australian Turf Club (Property) Act 1944. 
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OTHER KEY LEGISLATION IMPACTING ON THE DEPARTMENT’S ACTIVITIES 

In the performance of its functions, the Department complies with the following relevant 
written laws: 

 Auditor General Act 2006; 

 Contaminated Sites Act 2003; 

 Disability Services Act 1993; 

 Equal Opportunity Act 1984; 

 Electronic Transactions Act 2003; 

 Financial Management Act 2006; 

 Freedom of Information Act 1992; 

 Industrial Relations Act 1979; 

 Minimum Conditions of Employment Act 1993; 

 Occupational Safety and Health Act 1984; 

 Public Interest Disclosure Act 2003; 

 Public Sector Management Act 1994; 

 Salaries and Allowances Act 1975; 

 State Records Act 2000; and 

 State Supply Commission Act 1991. 
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PERFORMANCE MANAGEMENT FRAMEWORK 

 
OUTCOME BASED MANAGEMENT FRAMEWORK 

Broad government goals are supported by the Department by specific outcomes. The 
Department delivers services to achieve these outcomes. The following table illustrates 
the relationship between the Department‟s services and desired outcomes, and the 
goals of the government.  
 

GOVERNMENT GOAL DESIRED OUTCOME OF THE 
DEPARTMENT 

 

SERVICES 
DELIVERED BY THE 

DEPARTMENT 

 

Greater focus on achieving 
results in key service delivery 
areas for the benefit of all 
Western Australians. 

To minimise harm to the community 
of liquor and gambling activities 
through the application of 
government legislation and policy. 

Evaluation and 
determination of 
licensing applications. 
 

The carrying out of 
compliance audits and 
inspections. 
 

 
 
CHANGES TO OUTCOME BASED MANAGEMENT FRAMEWORK 

The Department‟s Outcome Based Management Framework did not change during 
2011/12. 
 
 
SHARED RESPONSIBILITIES WITH OTHER AGENCIES 

The Department is a client of the Office of Shared Services in respect to financial 
management (Oracle system) and the provision of payroll services. Therefore, the 
Department shares responsibilities for its financial management with the Office of 
Shared Services. 
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AGENCY PERFORMANCE 

REPORT ON OPERATIONS 

 
Actual Results versus Budget Targets  

FINANCIAL TARGETS TARGET1 ACTUAL VARIATION 

Total cost of services (expense limit)  
(sourced from Statement of Comprehensive 
Income) 

$12,994,000 $14,449,000 $1,455,000 

Net cost of services 
(sourced from Statement of Comprehensive 
Income) 

$4,272,000 $3,838,000 $434,000 

Total equity 
(sourced from Statement of Financial Position) 

$2,994,000 $2,813,000 $181,000 

Net increase / (decrease) in cash held  
(sourced from Statement of Cash Flows) 

$266,000 $96,000 $170,000 

 No. No. No. 

Approved full time equivalent (FTE) staff level 107 110 3 

SUMMARY OF KEY PERFORMANCE 
INDICATORS 

2011/12 

TARGET2 

2011/12 

ACTUAL 

VARIATION3 

Licensee/service providers that comply with audit 
requirements and statutory criteria 

97% 96% 1% 

Evaluation and determination of licensing 
applications – average cost of determining 
applications 

$415 $483 $68 

Compliance audits and inspections – average cost 
of conducting an inspection 

$726 $891 $165 

 
The increase in the cost of service delivery is attributed to the Department increasing its 
expenditure to upgrade its information technology infrastructure and filling vacancies. 
The decrease in the net cost of services was due to an increase in revenue raised by 
the Department.   

                                                           
1 As specified in the Budget Statements for the year in question. 

2 As specified in the Budget Statements for the year in question. 

3 Explanations for the variations between budget target and actual key performance indicator results are presented at 
pages 82 to 85. 
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LIQUOR LICENSING PROGRAM 

The Liquor Control Act 1988 provides the legislative framework for the liquor licensing 
authority, comprising the Director of Liquor Licensing and the Liquor Commission, to 
regulate the: 

 sale, supply and consumption of liquor;  

 use of premises on which liquor is sold; and  

 services and facilities provided in conjunction with the sale of liquor.  

 
One of the primary objects of the Liquor Control Act 1988 is to minimise harm or ill-
health caused to people, or any group of people, due to the use of liquor. Pursuant to 
section 13 of the Liquor Control Act 1988, the Director of Liquor Licensing is responsible 
for the administration of the Act, other than those aspects that relate to the Liquor 
Commission. 
 
The Director of Liquor Licensing is Mr Barry Sargeant, the Director General of the 
Department of Racing, Gaming and Liquor. 
 
In addition to determining liquor licensing applications, the Director of Liquor Licensing 
is also empowered under other sections of the Act to:  

 monitor the standards of licensed premises; 

 ensure compliance with the requirements of the Liquor Control Act 1988; 

 develop and implement policy consistent with Government objectives; 

 provide policy advice; 

 negotiate and liaise with industry groups on high level matters, such as Liquor 
Accords and industry training; 

 consider section 117 complaints (complaints about noise or behaviour related to 
licensed premises) and be responsive to such complaints; and 

 determine any other matters arising from the administration of the Liquor Control Act 
1988. 

 
The Department also performs functions for the Commonwealth Government in respect 
to liquor activities on Christmas and Cocos Islands. The cost of services provided in the 
Indian Ocean Territories is recouped by the Department and retained as part of a net 
appropriation determination. 
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LIQUOR LICENSING PERFORMANCE INFORMATION 

The Department provides a licensing service for the liquor and gambling industries. 
Applications made pursuant to the provisions of the relevant legislation are evaluated 
and determined by the Licensing Division, which results in the grant or refusal of 
applications and the subsequent issue or refusal of the licence/approval sought. 
 
The following table provides a four-year summary of the types and quantity of liquor 
licence applications that the Department received. 
 

LIQUOR LICENSING APPLICATIONS RECEIVED 

Licence Types 2008/09 2009/10 2010/11 2011/12 

Transfer of Licence 242 262 253 246 

Grant and Removal of Licence 264 260 226 284 

Alteration/Redefinition 183 167 151 161 

Variation to Licence Conditions 230 166 203 219 

Extended Trading Permits (long term extended 
hours) 

43 30 21 24 

Extended Trading Permits (other long term) 118 80 58 70 

One-off Extended Trading Permits 1442 1559 1234 1244 

Approval of Manager 3408 4252 5774 4753 

Protection Orders 56 39 61 92 

Change of Premises Name 62 74 74 65 

Position of Authority/Shareholding 123 100 128 144 

Arrangement/Agreement 45 42 62 73 

One-off variation of licensed area 108 96 110 101 

One-off variation of licence hours 140 135 105 140 

One-off variation of area and hours 36 30 22 16 

Conversion from Club Restricted to full Club 
licence 

2 2 1 1 

Conversion from Hotel to Tavern or Hotel 
Restricted licence 

2 1 0 4 

Occasional  2714 2174 3215 3357 

Total 9218 9469 11,698 10,994 
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The following table provides a four-year summary of the number of licensed premises in 
Western Australia as at 30 June each year.  
 

LIQUOR LICENCES BY TYPES AND CATEGORIES  

Licence Types 2008/09 2009/10 2010/11 2011/12 

Hotel 288 286 282 273 

Hotel Restricted 44 47 50 51 

Tavern 347 358 374 373 

Tavern Restricted 0 0 0 8 

Small Bar 30 44 56 66 

Liquor Store 506 523 530 536 

Club 423 423 424 418 

Club Restricted 534 544 545 550 

Restaurant 734 759 779 782 

Nightclub 47 45 45 43 

Special Facility 529 549 557 577 

Casino Liquor 1 1 1 1 

Producer 579 575 574 567 

Wholesaler 179 188 183 192 

Total 4241 4342 4400 4437 
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The following table provides a four-year summary of the number and nature of applications for the grant of a licence received by the 
Department together with the outcome of determinations and the nature of licences cancelled and surrendered. 
 

LIQUOR LICENCES RECEIVED AND DETERMINED, BY TYPE  
 

 

 

Status Hotel Hotel 
Restricted 

Tavern Tavern 
Restricted 

Small 
Bar 

Liquor 
Store 

Club Club 
Restricted 

Restaurant Nightclub Special 
Facility 

Producer Wholesaler Total 

2008/09 

Applications 
Received 

1 5 18 0 19 26 7 14 49 1 46 27 24 237 

Withdrawn 0 1 1 0 1 0 0 0 1 1 5 2 0 12 

Refused / 
Struck Out 

0 0 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 3 

Granted 2 4 16 0 19 12 3 14 40 1 28 22 17 178 

Cancelled / 
Surrendered 

2 2 5 0 0 2 2 10 59 4 32 24 20 162 

2009/10 

Applications 
Received 

0 2 20 0 14 29 2 14 50 2 53 32 18 236 

Withdrawn 0 0 0 0 1 1 0 1 0 0 2 0 0 5 

Refused / 
Struck Out 

0 0 3 0 0 10 0 0 0 2 4 0 1 20 

Granted 0 3 12 0 13 17 3 16 43 0 41 27 14 189 

Cancelled / 
Surrendered 

2 1 3 0 0 2 3 5 23 1 25 33 7 105 

2010/11 

Applications 
Received 

2 2 17 4 17 16 1 7 53 1 47 16 20 203 

Withdrawn 0 0 1 0 0 1 0 0 1 0 4 0 0 7 

Refused / 
Struck Out 

1 0 4 0 1 6 0 1 2 0 6 0 0 21 

Granted 1 3 16 2 9 10 3 5 47 0 34 17 13 160 

Cancelled / 
Surrendered 

4 0 5 0 0 3 3 5 29 0 26 20 21 116 

2011/12 

Applications 
Received 

4 2 11 8 18 25 1 19 69 0 51 25 26 259 

Withdrawn 0 0 1 0 1 0 0 1 4 0 5 2 3 17 

Refused / 
Struck Out 

0 0 1 2 5 9 0  0 1 1 0 0 19 

Granted 0 2 10 6 13 12 1 14 41 0 42 22 23 186 

Cancelled / 
Surrendered 

3 1 1 0 2 3 7 6 21 1 18 22 11 96 
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The following table provides a four-year summary of the number of applications 
approved in 2011/12 in comparison to selected periods over the past 20 years. 
 

LICENCES APPROVED BY CATEGORY 

Licence Type 1990/91 2000/01 2010/11 2011/12 

Hotel 1 0 1 0 

Hotel Restricted 0 1 3 2 

Tavern 5 3 16 10 

Tavern Restricted 0 0 2 6 

Small Bar 0 0 9 13 

Liquor Store 6 4 10 12 

Club 3 1 3 1 

Club Restricted 14 14 5 14 

Restaurant 13 31 47 41 

Nightclub 1 1 0 0 

Special Facility 9 31 34 42 

Casino Liquor 0 0 0 0 

Producer's 14 34 17 22 

Wholesaler's  0 3 13 23 

Total 66 123 160 186 
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GAMING AND WAGERING LICENSING PROGRAM 

Licences and permits are issued to enable community and sporting clubs to raise funds 
through the conduct of community gaming, such as standard lotteries (i.e., raffles), 
continuing lotteries (i.e., break-open bingo tickets), video lottery terminals (VLTs), bingo 
and gaming nights.  
 
Section 51 of the Gaming and Wagering Commission Act 1987 provides that gaming 
cannot be promoted or otherwise conducted for the purposes of private gain or any 
commercial undertaking.  
 
The Department issued 2271 community gaming permits on behalf of the Gaming and 
Wagering Commission of Western Australia, which resulted in a gross amount of 
approximately $56.5 million being raised by permit holders. Following the deduction of 
expenses associated with running the event, a net amount of approximately $17.6 
million was returned to beneficiary organisations for the active promotion, support or 
conduct of sporting, social, political, literary, artistic, scientific, benevolent, charitable or 
other similar activities within the Western Australian community. 
 
Department staff also issued licences and permits to allow: 

 persons to work in licensed positions at the Burswood Entertainment Complex; 

 persons to work in licensed positions at Racing and Wagering Western Australia; 
and 

 bookmaker operations. 

 
The following table provides a four-year summary of the number of community gaming 
permits issued by the Department. This shows that there has been a slight decrease in 
the number of permits issued during this period of time. 
 

NUMBER OF GAMING PERMITS ISSUED BY THE DEPARTMENT 

 2008/09 2009/10 2010/11 2011/12 

Bingo 205 200 193 207 

Continuing Lottery 290 250 246 249 

Gaming Functions 400 458 441 462 

Standard Lottery 881 891 907 879 

Calcutta 37 40 41 44 

Two-Up 64 51 52 48 

VLTS 447 420 386 382 

Total 2324 2310 2266 2271 
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LICENSING OF GAMING OPERATORS, SUPPLIERS, PREMISES AND EQUIPMENT  

Persons who assist in the conduct of community gaming for reward are required to hold 
a Gaming Operator‟s Certificate. The integrity of gaming operators is paramount to the 
integrity of community gaming activities. Applicants for a Gaming Operator‟s Certificate 
must satisfy a probity investigation in addition to demonstrating the required skills 
needed for working in the gaming industry. 
 
The following table provides a four-year summary of the total number of gaming 
operators, suppliers, premises and gaming equipment permits issued by the 
Department. This shows that there has been a slight decrease in the number of permits 
issued during this period of time. 
 

NUMBER OF PERMITS ISSUED BY THE DEPARTMENT 

 2008/09 2009/10 2010/11 2011/12 

Class of Gaming Equipment 7 8 7 7 

Item of Gaming Equipment 4 3 3 3 

Approval of Premises 218 165 135 164 

Gaming Operator‟s Certificate 46 46 42 34 

Supplier‟s Certificate 7 7 7 9 

Total 282 229 194 217 

 
The following table provides a three summary of the total gross and net revenue raised 
by gaming permit holders. Although there has been a slight drop in the number of 
permits issued in 2011/12, there has been a slight increase in the amount of net 
revenue raised by permit holders. 
 

COMPARISON OF GROSS AND NET REVENUE RAISED BY GAMING PERMIT HOLDERS 

 

2009/10 2010/11 2011/12 

Gross Net Gross Net Gross Net 

Bingo $4,937,583 $629,123 $5,261,766 $661,794 $5,692,579 $799,015 

Continuing 
Lottery 

$7,542,204 $1,573,044 $7,358,628 $1,476,784 $7,310,059 $1,473,857 

Gaming 
Functions 

$3,040,118 $519,811 $3,016,748 $455,540 $2,977,872 $466,259 

Standard 
Lottery 

$25,047,997 $10,911,070 $31,045,040 $13,277,153 $30,878,560 $13,613,067 

Calcutta $460,277 $79,314 $419,783 $87,522 $510,907 $135,320 

Two-Up $74,986 $41,907 $42,485 $24,515 $44,875 $24,392 

VLTs $9,868,001 $1,138,728 $9,554,702 $1,116,598 $9,125,835 $1,113,594 

TOTAL $50,971,166 $14,892,997 $56,699,152 $17,099,906 $56,540,686 $17,625,504 



P a g e  | 20 

LICENSING CASINO EMPLOYEES AND CASINO KEY EMPLOYEES 

The integrity of a casino‟s employees is central to the integrity of casino gaming. For 
this reason, all people directly associated with gaming at the Burswood International 
Resort Casino must be licensed under the appropriate regulations. The following table 
provides a four-year summary of the total number of licences in operation; it shows the 
number of employees has increased over the past 12 months. 
 

CASINO EMPLOYEE LICENSING 2008/09 2009/10 2010/11 2011/12 

Key Employee Licences 365 374 378 376 

Employee Licences 1791 1660 1686 1720 

Total 2156 2034 2064 2096 

 
 
LICENSING RWWA DIRECTORS AND KEY EMPLOYEES 

In accordance with the provisions of sections 14 and 24 of the Racing and Wagering 
Western Australia Act 2003, employees acting on behalf of the Gaming and Wagering 
Commission coordinate the lodgement of applications for the licensing of Racing and 
Wagering Western Australia‟s directors and key employees. 
 

The following table provides a four-year summary of the total number of licences in 
operation at Racing and Wagering Western Australia This shows there has been a 
slight increase in the total number of licences in operation over the past four years.  
 

RWWA EMPLOYEE LICENCES 2008/09 2009/10 2010/11 2011/12 

Directors 10 11 12 11 

Key Employee 61 75 72 73 

Total 71 86 84 84 

 

 

RACING BETS LEVY RETURNS 

On behalf of the Western Australian racing industry, the Gaming and Wagering 
Commission (the Commission) is responsible for collecting and disbursing the racing 
bets levy paid by betting operators who use Western Australian race fields as part of 
their betting operations. In this regard, the Commission remits all levies (less a monthly 
administration fee) to RWWA for distribution amongst all WA registered racing clubs in 
accordance with its Strategic Development Plan.  
 
For 2011/12, the Commission remitted a total of $30.96 million to RWWA for distribution 
to the Western Australian racing industry. Since the introduction of the racing bets levy 
scheme (applicable retrospectively to 1 September 2008), the Commission has remitted 
a total of $93.5 million to RWWA for distribution to the WA racing industry.   
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LICENSING BOOKMAKER OPERATIONS 

The Department provides a licensing service for bookmakers and bookmakers‟ 
employees. The following table provides a four-year summary of the total number of 
licences in operation. 
 

BOOKMAKER LICENCES 2008/09 2009/10 2010/11 2011/12 

As at 30 June 50 50 49 45 

BOOKMAKER’S EMPLOYEE 
LICENCES 

2008/09 2009/10 2010/11 2011/12 

Issued 51 20 44 33 

Expired 5 19 26 26 

BOOKMAKER’S MANAGER LICENCES 2008/09 2009/10 2010/11 2011/12 

Issued 2 1 3 2 

Expired 1 0 0 0 

 
 

COMPLIANCE PROGRAM 

The Department provides a range of inspectorial and audit functions for the gambling 
and liquor industries to ensure that the service of gambling and liquor is conducted in a 
responsible manner.  
 
Inspectorial functions carried out by the Compliance Division include: 

 casino surveillance; 

 physical inspections and the auditing of financial returns in relation to permitted 
gaming activities; 

 independent verification of draws, ticket sales and winner selection in regard to 
Lotto, Oz Lotto, Powerball Lotto and Cash 3; 

 inspection of race day activities; 

 audits of TAB agencies; 

 reporting on applications made under the provisions of the Liquor Control Act 1988; 

 physical inspection of licensed premises; 

 assisting in the resolution of noise complaints about licensed premises; 

 assessing and collecting licence fees and other revenue; and 

 investigation of complaints. 
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SIGNIFICANT COMPLIANCE ACTION 

Two of the more high profile compliance actions taken by the Department are outlined 
below. 
 
Zelda’s Nightclub Rockingham 

This venue was the subject of a number of complaints lodged by WA Police and the City 
of Rockingham lodged with the Liquor Commission under section 95 of the Liquor 
Control Act 1988.  
 
The Director of Liquor Licensing suspended the venue‟s liquor licence in May 2012 
under section 91 pending the determination by the Liquor Commission of the section 95 
complaint lodged by the Commissioner of Police on 26 March 2012.  
 
The Liquor Commission heard the section 95 matter in June 2012. The Commission 
determined to impose a range of conditions in regards to managing anti-social 
behaviour in and around the licensed premises, such as restricting trading hours; 
imposing lock-out conditions; restricting the sale and supply of liquor; prohibiting the 
style of entertainment provided; and imposing stricter security requirements, such as the 
installation of CCTV systems and increasing the number of security personnel.  
 
The Commission‟s decision, Commissioner of Police v Tocoan Pty Ltd (LC25/2012), is 
available at www.liquorcommission.wa.gov.au. 

 
Liquorhome.com Ltd 

Two directors of Liquorhome.com Ltd were charged under section 109 of the Liquor 
Control Act 1988 for unlawfully dealing in liquor. Additionally, the producers who 
provided the liquor were cautioned by the Department, and reminded of the legislation 
dealing with profit-sharing.   
 
As at June 30, the section 109 charges were still to be heard. 
 
INSPECTORIAL ISSUES 

On behalf of the Gaming and Wagering Commission and the Director of Liquor 
Licensing, the inspectorial program enforces the provisions of the Betting Control Act 
1954, the Casino Control Act 1984, the Gaming and Wagering Commission Act 1987, 
the Liquor Control Act 1988 and the Racing and Wagering Western Australia Act 2003, 
so that adequate controls are in place to establish compliance with legislative 
requirements and to monitor the ongoing effectiveness of those controls. 
 
Risk-based compliance assessment programs are used to assess compliance in 
relation to bookmakers‟ on-course and telephone betting operations, on-course 
totalisator betting, betting conducted at TAB agencies, casino gaming, Lotto, community 
gaming and licensed premises.       
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The following table provides a four-year summary of the number and nature of audits, 
inspections, assessments and investigations conducted by the Department‟s 
Compliance Division. A breakdown of these figures is provided at page 24.  
 

AUDITS, INSPECTIONS, ASSESSMENTS AND 
INVESTIGATIONS 

2008/09 2009/10 2010/11 2011/12 

Racing 422 1488 535 333 

Lotterywest 1143 1122 761 754 

Community Gaming 490 752 747 398 

Burswood Casino 5990 6722 5483 3714 

Liquor 3233 2893 2681 2733 

Total 11,278 12,977 10,207 7932 

 
The decrease in the number of audits, inspections, assessments and investigations 
conducted in 2011/12 is a result of the following factors: 

 There were three vacant inspector positions during the year.  

 In 2010 the casino licensee sought and obtained approval from the Gaming and 
Wagering Commission for a new electronic gaming machine (EGM) monitoring 
system providing greater functionality and capabilities to monitor entries into EGMs. 
This resulted in removing the requirement for inspectors to undertake seal checks of 
every EGM which had in previous years amounted to approximately 1900 checks. 
Inspectors undertake random checks to monitor the effectiveness of the controls in 
the EGM monitoring system. 
 

The following table provides a four-year summary of the number and nature of non-
compliance issues detected by the Department‟s Compliance Division.  
 

NON COMPLIANCE WITH LEGISLATIVE 
REQUIREMENTS 

2008/09 2009/10 2010/11 2011/12 

Liquor Work Orders Issued 300 98 158 88 

Liquor Infringements Issued 87 117 73 73 

Liquor Cautions Issued 34 43 129 139 

Community Gaming and Casino Infringements 
Issued 

25 58 49 22 

Gaming Cautions Issued 39 29 32 15 

Violation reports against the casino operation 
(relating to breaches of game rules, procedures or 
directions) 

5 16 5 7 

Casino Prosecutions 0 0 0 0 

Racing Prosecutions/Cautions Issued 6 3 12 0 

Breaches of the Liquor Control Act 1988 209 1 2 2 

Total 737 365 460 346 
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INSPECTORATE PROGRAM 2008/09 2009/10 2010/11 2011/12 

Racing 

Bookmaker telephone betting inspections 0 7 5 0 

Bookmaker licensing and equipment checks 9 7 3 0 

Bookmaker betting operations inspections 10 8 3 0 

TAB agency inspections and cash counts 160 208 247 144 

Oncourse tote inspections and audits 0 5 54 1 

Sports betting contingency audit 2 0 0 0 

Racefields bet levy return audits  0 1012 7 3 

Racing industry GST reimbursement claims received 179 205 180 156 

Racing industry GST reimbursement audits conducted  
9 2 0 3 

Lotterywest 

Cash 3 draw verification 730 730 364 366 

Lotto/Soccer Pools draw verification 365 365 364 366 

Promotional draws verification 39 13 24 13 

Lotterywest GST reimbursement claims received 9 14 9 9 

Lotterywest GST reimbursement audits conducted  0 0 0 0 

Community Gaming 

Gaming inspections performed 273 476 56 149 

Gaming investigations conducted 20 33 380 16 

Gaming audits conducted 185 216 223 150 

Casino     

Equipment checks completed 5 2 6 0 

EGM Prom and seal checks completed  3302 3566 2871 1380 

Daily revenue figures calculated 366 365 365 366 

Illegal activity detected 30 20 0 0 

Casino audits and inspections completed 1504 1977 1497 1252 

Hard and soft cash counts completed 728 722 676 677 

Casino GST reimbursement claims received 12 11 12 10 

Liquor     

Liquor industry compliance audits and inspections 
conducted  

968 859 1056 1005 

Liquor premises inspections conducted 1256 1111 744 866 

Liquor subsidy claims checks completed 256 164 128 122 

Liquor returns checks completed 753 757 753 740 

Liquor subsidy audits conducted 0 2 0 0 

Submissions to the Gaming and Wagering 
Commission 

    

Racing industry  4 6 4 6 

Racing and Wagering WA  49 28 32 20 

Gaming  12 8 73 67 

Casino  43 59 56 29 

Compliance issues 0 19 15 16 
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SIGNIFICANT ISSUES IMPACTING THE AGENCY 

PUBLIC INTEREST ASSESSMENT 

Disappointed applicants and commentators on liquor licensing decisions often overlook 
the public interest requirement of an application, and do not understand why an 
apparent good idea for a “bar” is not approved by the liquor licensing authority.  
 
While decisions of the licensing authority are governed by the Liquor Control Act 1988, 
they are also governed by precedent decisions of the Supreme Court of Western 
Australia, with the Director of Liquor Licensing subject to further precedent decisions of 
the Liquor Commission.  
 
Accordingly, licensing authority decisions must be evidentiary based with each 
application dealt with on its merits, and all parties to the proceedings being afforded 
procedural fairness. 
 
Any person has a general right of objection to an application and the Executive Director 
Public Health, Commissioner of Police and the relevant local authority not only have the 
right to intervene for the purpose of introducing evidence or making representation in 
relation to an application, but they may also exercise that right by way of an objection. 
 
The private interest of an applicant wishing to establish a liquor outlet is not to be 
confused with the public interest. The requirements of the Act are directed at the 
licensing authority taking a balanced approach to the granting of new applications. 
 
It is not open for the licensing authority to make a finding to grant an application 
because it would be a “good idea” based on some general rule that it has formulated for 
itself on knowledge and experience gained in the determinations of other applications. 
 
As a specialist administrative body in liquor licensing matters, its findings of fact are only 
entitled to considerable weight when they involve an assessment of relevant issues 
peculiar to the field of liquor licensing; for example, the availability of liquor supplies, 
assessment of contemporary standards and accessibility of licensed premises to the 
public in the proposed locality. 
 
There is an onus of proof for applicants to establish the merit of their application; section 
38(2) of the Act states that “an applicant … must satisfy the licensing authority that 
granting the application is in the public interest.” 
 
The public interest, as ascertained from the scope and purpose of the Act, involves 
catering for the requirements of consumers of liquor and to have liquor outlets 
consistent with good order and proprietary in relation to the distribution and 
consumption of liquor.  
 
What is often overlooked is that one of the primary objects of the Act is to regulate the 
sale and supply of liquor and that the disposition of the Act, read as a whole, is to 
regulate that good order and proprietary. 



P a g e  | 26 

The proliferation of liquor outlets is not in the public interest. To increase the number of 
licensed premises without any real and demonstrable consumer requirement, would 
represent proliferation without justification. 
 
The licensing authority must also weigh and balance the requirements of consumers 
against the object of minimising harm or ill-health caused to people, or any group of 
people due to the use of liquor. 
 
It is a matter for the licensing authority to decide what weight to give to the competing 
interests and other relevant considerations. 
 
For an applicant to discharge its onus under section 38(2), it must address both the 
positive and negative impacts that the grant of the application will have on the local 
community. The Liquor Commission has confirmed that it is not sufficient for applicants 
to merely express opinions about the perceived benefits of their application without an 
appropriate level of evidence to support those opinions and assertions. 
 
This means applicants must adduce sufficient evidence to demonstrate the positive 
aspects of their application, including that the proposed licence will cater for the 
requirements for consumers for liquor and related services. The Liquor Commission has 
determined that failing to do this means “… the granting of licences under the Act would 
become arbitrary and not in accordance with the objects of the Act” (LC 32/2010: 
Element WA Pty Ltd). 
 
Furthermore, “In considering the public interest under section 38, the licensing authority 
needs to consider both the positive and negative social, economic and health impacts 
that the grant of an application will have on a community...In determining the positive 
aspects of an application, mere opinions expressed by an applicant as to the perceived 
benefits of the grant of their application, in the absence of supporting evidence, falls well 
short of the level of evidence required to substantiate such a claim…Statements by 
applicants, without supporting evidence, cannot be construed as facts...letters of 
support from business people purporting to speak on behalf of consumers simply does 
not go far enough to satisfy the Commission that the general public has a requirement 
for liquor and related services...” (LC 17/2010: Busswater Pty Ltd). 
 
Many applicants and commentators also question why the Director of Liquor Licensing 
does not provide more guidance and assistance to applicants in the preparation and 
substantiation of their application. 
 
Expecting the Director to seek further submissions from an applicant to address 
deficiencies in an application would compromise the impartiality of the Director as an 
administrative decision maker. If this were the case, there could also be an expectation 
for the Director to seek further information from an objector or intervener to ensure it 
was sufficiently supported. If such information was provided, the Director may also be 
expected to approach the applicant to rebut the objection through the provision of 
further information.  
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This is supported by recent Liquor Commission decisions, for instance, in Shallcross 
Investments Pty Ltd v Director of Liquor Licensing (LC26/2010), the Commission stated, 
“...the licensing authority cannot run an application, objection or intervention on behalf of 
the individual parties because to do so would place the licensing authority in an 
unsustainable position.” 
 
In this regard, the Liquor Commission in Harold Thomas James Blakely (LC 44/2010) 
ruled, “The Commission has previously observed that it is not sufficient for an applicant 
merely to express opinions and make assertions about the perceived benefits of their 
application. Such opinions and assertions must be supported by an appropriate level of 
evidence...in the absence of other supporting evidence which is relevant, reliable and 
logically probative, the Commission finds that this applicant has failed to satisfy the 
Commission that the grant of the licence is in the public interest as required under 
s38(2) of the Act.” 
 
 
LIQUOR COMMISSION DECISIONS AND SUPREME COURT CHALLENGES 

During the year a number of Liquor Commission decisions were subject to Supreme 
Court challenges (yet to take place at the time of publishing this report). These are 
summarised below. 
 
Dan Murphy’s Bicton 

The Commission refused an application for the conditional grant of a liquor store licence 
in Bicton. The applicant appealed the decision in the Supreme Court. 
 
The Commission did not accept that argument that the application should be granted 
merely because the business model had proven to be popular in other localities. The 
Commission was not satisfied that adequate or compelling evidence had been 
submitted to demonstrate that granting the licence would cater for the requirements of 
consumers of liquor and related services contemplated by the applicant at the proposed 
location.  
 
 
Dan Murphy’s Cockburn 

The Commission refused an application for the grant of a liquor store licence in 
Cockburn. The applicant appealed the decision in the Supreme Court. 
 
The Commission determined that any benefit of increased competition, range of 
products and diversity of choice was outweighed by the potential harm and loss of 
amenity that would result if the application was granted. 
 
  

http://www.liquorcommission.wa.gov.au/decisions/LC262010.pdf
http://www.liquorcommission.wa.gov.au/decisions/LC262010.pdf
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Leisure Inn Rockingham 

The Commission refused an application for the redefinition of the Leisure Inn 
Rockingham to include a Dan Murphy‟s liquor store. The applicant has appealed the 
decision in the Supreme Court.  
 

The applicant‟s plan showed the proposed redefinition involved the construction of a 
building separate to the existing buildings that constituted the existing licensed 
premises. 
 
The Commission determined that the proposed store could not be considered 
contiguous with the existing licensed premises. The buildings did not have a common 
border nor were they adjacent to each other. The Commission determined that  the 
proposed store would constitute a satellite outlet by virtue of the distance between the 
proposed new building in which it would operate and the existing buildings. 
 
 
First Choice Liquor Superstore, Maylands 

The Commission refused an application for the grant of a liquor store licence in 
Maylands. The applicant has appealed the decision in the Supreme Court. 
 
The Commission formed the view that the location of the proposed liquor outlet was a 
critical consideration in forming its view of the likelihood of harm and ill-health resulting 
from the grant of the application, and determined that any benefit of increased 
competition, range of products and diversity of choice was outweighed by the potential 
harm that would result if the application was granted.  
 
 
LIQUOR RESTRICTED PREMISES 

Part 5B of the Liquor Control Act 1988 (the Act), relating to the declaration of private 
premises as liquor restricted premises, came into operation on 8 October 2011.  
 
Part 5B of the Act enables the owner or occupier of a private premises or privately 
owned land to apply to the Director of Liquor Licensing (the Director) to have the 
premises declared a restricted premises so it becomes an offence for a person to bring 
into, consume or possess liquor on those premises for a specified period.  
 
Section 152P(4) of the Act also allows for a prescribed class of person to apply for a 
declaration of a liquor restricted premises. In this regard, the Chief Executive Officer of 
the Department for Child Protection is the only class of person prescribed in regulations. 
 
As at 30 June, a total of 56 premises have been declared by the Director as restricted 
premises and one application still under consideration as the Department is waiting on 
evidence of premises ownership and tenancy.  
 
Of the 56 that have been declared as liquor restricted premises, 54 are still active 
declarations and two have ceased to be in force due to loss of tenure. 
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The locations of all declared premises, including the pending and cancelled 
declarations, are shown below: 
 

KIMBERLEY PILBARA OTHER REGIONS 

Broome - 64  
Kununurra - 13  
Wyndham – 7 
 

Derby - 1 
Karratha - 1 
Newman - 13 
South Hedland – 85  
Wickham - 1 

Carnarvon - 1 
Esperance - 1 
Geraldton - 3 
Meekatharra - 1 
 

 
 
LIQUOR RESTRICTIONS 

There is continuing interest by regional communities in reducing the level of alcohol-
related harm through the assistance of the Director of Liquor Licensing. 
 
Mechanisms available to remote communities to address harm caused due to the use of 
liquor are provided for under sections 175 and 64 of the Liquor Control Act 1988 (the 
Act). 
 
The Department maintains an interactive map that lists all current liquor restrictions that 
exist throughout the State. 
 
Section 175(1a) Restricted Area Regulations 

Section 175(1a) of the Act enables the Governor, on the recommendation of the 
Minister, to declare an area of the State a restricted area that prohibits the bringing in, 
possession and consumption of liquor in the declared area.  
 
More communities are seeking to use section 175 to restrict alcohol consumption in 
their communities. This is currently the State Government‟s preferred legislative 
mechanism for alcohol management in Aboriginal communities. 
 
With the increasing number of communities seeking to use section 175, stakeholder 
letters are now sent to the Police Commissioner, the local government authority, the 
Department of Indigenous Affairs and the Drug and Alcohol Office to ensure that 
programs and facilities in the restricted areas are able to cope with anticipated 
population requirements. 
 
As at 30 June 2012, 15 Aboriginal communities have been declared restricted areas 
under section 175(1a) of the Act, prohibiting the bringing in, possession and 
consumption of liquor in those communities. If a person commits an offence against the 
regulations the penalties to apply are between $2000 and $5000. 
  

                                                           
4
 one has since ceased to be in force 

5
 one has since ceased to be in force 
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The table below shows the areas of Western Australia where section 175 restrictions 
apply. 
 
RESTRICTED 
AREA 

REGULATIONS EXPIRES 

Wangkatjungka Liquor Control (Wangkatjungka Restricted Area) 
Regulations 2008 

20/04/2013 

Bayulu Liquor Control (Bayulu Restricted Area) Regulations 2010 8/06/2013 

Kundat Djaru Liquor Control (Kundat Djaru Restricted Area) Regulations 
2010 

17/09/2013 

Nicholson Block Liquor Control (Nicholson Block Restricted Area) 
Regulations 2010 

17/09/2013 

Koongie Park Liquor Control (Koongie Park Restricted Area) Regulations 
2010 

17/09/2013 

Oombulgurri Liquor Control (Oombulgurri Restricted Area) Regulations 
2008 

7/11/2013 

Punmu Liquor Control (Punmu Restricted Area) Regulations 2010 3/12/2013 

Irrungadji Liquor Control (Irrungadji Restricted Area) Regulations 
2010 

3/12/2013 

Jigalong Liquor Control (Jigalong Restricted Area) Regulations 2009 30/04/2014 

Kunawarritji Liquor Control (Kunawarritji Restricted Area) Regulations 
2011 

3/05/2014 

Pandanus Park Liquor Control (Pandanus Park Restricted Area) 
Regulations 2011 

27/05/2014 

Looma Liquor Control (Looma Restricted Area) Regulations 2011 27/05/2014 

Noonkanbah Liquor Control (Noonkanbah Restricted Area) Regulations 
2009 

23/07/2014 

Juwurlinji (Bow 
River) 

Liquor Control (Juwurlinji Restricted Area) Regulations 
2009 

23/07/2014 

Yakanarra Liquor Control (Yakanarra Restricted Area) Regulations 
2010 

30/04/2015 

 
In addition, the communities of Cheeditha and Bidyadanga have submitted applications 
to declare their communities as restricted areas under section 175(1a) of the Act. 
 
Section 64 Inquiries 

Under section 64 of the Act, the Director of Liquor Licensing has the authority to act in 
the public interest to impose restrictions on the sale of liquor from licensed premises to 
address alcohol related harm in any part of the State. 
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There is also a system of voluntary liquor accords in place in Western Australia whereby 
licensees, the Police, and other local agencies agree on a set of voluntary liquor 
restrictions. Because these accords are voluntary, their success depends on the will of 
the licensees to collectively abide by them. Under these two processes all major 
Kimberley towns have liquor restrictions in operation. 
 
Major section 64 restrictions imposed on regional communities include:  

 Kimberley-wide container restrictions (licences for premises north of 20 degrees 
south);  

 Fitzroy Crossing;  

 Halls Creek;  

 Kununurra; 

 Wyndham; 

 Derby;  

 Meekatharra;  

 Mount Magnet;  

 Newman;  

 Nullagine;  

 Port Hedland;  

 Wiluna; and  

 Northern Goldfields (including Laverton, Leonora, Leinster, Kookynie, Agnew and 
Menzies) 

 
Section 64 Inquiry in West Pilbara 

In January 2012, WA Police wrote to the Director of Liquor Licensing seeking 
consideration of liquor restrictions for the towns of Dampier, Karratha, Onslow, 
Pannawonica, Paraburdoo, Point Samson, Roebourne, Tom Price, Whim Creek and 
Wickham.  
 
The request was based on the November 2011 report prepared by the Police in 
collaboration with the Executive Director Public Health, on behalf of the West Pilbara 
Alcohol Management Group, regarding alcohol related harm occurring in the West 
Pilbara region.  
 
The report found that the level of alcohol consumption in the West Pilbara is higher than 
the State average. It suggested that having consistent liquor restrictions across the 
West Pilbara region would limit the likelihood of alcohol related problems moving to 
other locations. 
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The report highlighted significant levels of alcohol consumption, related harm and ill 
health, and recommended restrictions for the sale and supply of alcohol in the West 
Pilbara region.  
 
Following consideration of the report, as well as the comments and submissions 
received on that report, the Director of Liquor Licensing determined that he was 
satisfied that the level of alcohol related harm occurring in the communities of the West 
Pilbara was such that it would be in the public interest to impose restrictive conditions 
on relevant licences. 
 
Licensees were issued with a “Show Cause” Notice, pursuant to section 64(2a) of the 
Act, and were offered an opportunity to lodge submissions as to why conditions should 
not be imposed. As at 30 June 2012, a decision had not been made on this issue. 
 
The report and a supplementary report prepared by the WA Police can be accessed on 
the Department‟s website at www.rgl.wa.gov.au  

 
 
Section 64 Inquiry in Kalgoorlie, Boulder, Coolgardie and Kambalda 

In May 2012, WA Police wrote to the Director of Liquor Licensing seeking consideration 
of liquor restrictions in relation to the sale of packaged liquor for the towns of Kalgoorlie, 
Boulder, Coolgardie and Kambalda.  
 
Licensees were required to show cause why the proposed conditions should not be 
imposed with the final date for submissions being 20 July 2012.   
 
The report prepared by the WA Police can be accessed on the Department‟s website at 
www.rgl.wa.gov.au 

 
 
MANDATORY TRAINING 

In February 2012, a new liquor licensing course was approved by the Training 
Accreditation Council of WA. The new Course in Management of Licensed Premises 
(52473WA) was created to reflect the requirements of current legislation as well as 
industry needs.  New licensees and new unrestricted approved managers will be 
required to complete the one-day core unit (MLP1) of the Course in Management of 
Licensed Premises (52473WA), as this will be the only course to be recognised by the 
Director of Liquor Licensing. 
 
From September 1, the Course in Liquor Licensing (52065) will no longer be offered in 
WA.  Existing licensees and managers approved under the current requirements will not 
be required to undertake further training when the requirements change on 1 
September 2012. 
 
During the transition period between 1 June 2012 and 31 August 2012, new unrestricted 
approved managers were required to have successfully completed either the Course in 

http://www.rgl.wa.gov.au/
http://www.rgl.wa.gov.au/
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Liquor Licensing (52065) or the core unit (MLP1) of the Course in Management of 
Licensed Premises (52473WA). 
 
Restricted manager applicants (that is, an approved manager at a licensed club, club 
restricted or an occasional licensed premises) will only be required to complete the 
nationally accredited Provide Responsible Service of Alcohol course (SITHFAB009A).     
 
All training providers are required to seek approval from the Director to be able to 
present the new course via the internet and in a classroom environment, prior to 
applying to the Training Accreditation Council.  
 
 
MINISTER’S INTENTION TO REVIEW THE LIQUOR CONTROL ACT 1988 

On 29 March, 2012 the Minister for Racing and Gaming announced in Parliament the 
Government‟s intention to review the Liquor Control Act 1988. 
 
The review is in response to a number of issues raised with the Government in relation 
to liquor licensing laws, such as the secondary supply of liquor to juveniles and the laws 
requiring patrons to be seated at restaurants while consuming liquor. 
 
The review will be conducted in full consultation with industry stakeholders and the 
Western Australian community. 
 
 
NATIONAL GAMBLING REFORM BILL 2012  

The Select Council on Gambling Reform was established to develop a national 
response to the latest Productivity Commission report on gambling. It is co-chaired by 
the Hon. Jenny Macklin, Federal Minister for Families, Housing, Community Services 
and Indigenous Affairs, and the Hon. Bill Shorten, Federal Assistant Treasurer.  
 
On 17 February 2012, the Commonwealth Government released exposure drafts of the 
National Gambling Reform Bill 2012 (the Bill) and the National Gambling Reform 
(Related Matters) Bill 2012. 
 
As at 30 June, the Bills had not been tabled in the Australian Parliament.   
 
The Bills require: 

 pre-commitment technology to be available on every gaming machine imported to, 
or made in, Australia by the end of 2013; 

 state-linked pre-commitment and dynamic warnings and cost of play displays, with 
longer implementation timelines for small venues, that is, venues with 10 to 20 
machines, by the end of 2016; and 

 a $250 per card per day withdrawal limit on ATM machines in gaming premises, 
except in casinos and in communities where this may cause unreasonable 
inconvenience, by 1 February 2013.        
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There is no impact to the Burswood Entertainment Complex in relation to the ATM 
reforms. 
 
The Bill defines a gaming machine premises to be a premises with one or more gaming 
machines made available for use. The Bill further defines a small gaming machine 
premises to be a premises where no more than 20 gaming machines are made 
available for use on the premises. 
 
Clause 6 of the Bill provides the following definition in relation to a gaming machine: 
 

“ (1) A gaming machine is a device (whether an actual or virtual device, and whether 
wholly or partly mechanically or electronically operated) that is designed so that: 

(a) it may be used for the purposes of playing a game of chance, or a mixed 
game of chance and skill; and 

 (b) it may be operated wholly or partly by: 

(i) inserting a token, coin or banknote into the device; or 

(ii) electronically transferring credits or tokens to the device; or 

(iii) using credits or tokens in the device (whether those credits or tokens are 
held, stored or accredited by the device or elsewhere); and 

 (c) because of making a bet on the device, winnings or other rewards may 
become payable. 

(2) A gaming machine also includes: 

 (a)gaming equipment (see subsection (3)); and 

 (b)any device that: 

(i) is designed so that it may be used for the purposes of playing a game of 
chance, or a mixed game of chance and skill; and 

(ii) is designed so that, because of making a bet on the device, winnings or 
other rewards may become payable; and 

(iii) is prescribed by the regulations for the purposes of this paragraph; and 

 (c)part of a gaming machine (within the meaning of subsection (1) and 
paragraphs (2)(a) and (b)).” 

 
Impact on Western Australia 

The proposed legislation will require gaming machine premises to have a pre-
commitment system but it will not be compulsory for patrons to enter a pre-commitment 
program. 
 
The definition of a gaming machine under clause 6 of the Bill suggests that devices 
such as video lottery terminals (VLTs) and amusement machines would be caught by 
the definition.  
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If VLTs and amusement machines are not exempted by regulations, then: 

 The provisions will take effect on 31 December 2020 for premises with less than 10 
VLTs or amusement type machines. 

 Only VLTs, arcade games, etc. that are manufactured or imported after  
31 December 2013, or made available on a premises after 31 December 2020 (that 
have not been previously made available) would be subject the reforms. 

 From 1 January 2017, amusement venues with more than 20 arcade type machines 
would be subject to the reforms. Venues with more than 10 machines but less than 
20 would be required to comply by 1 January 2021. 

 All venues would require pre-commitment systems to be monitored and pay levies. 
Levies would apply to all persons receiving a benefit, so in the case of VLTs that 
would include the beneficiary, the supplier and the premises where the machine(s) 
are located. The reforms would have a detrimental impact on charitable bodies. 

 In addition to amusement venues, also captured in the reforms would be agriculture 
shows where skilltesters, merchandisers and arcade games are often provided. 

 Implementing the reforms would be cost prohibitive for venues. 

 
 
ONLINE GAMBLING AND SPORTS BETTING  

In recognising the growing concern surrounding online gambling and sports betting, the 
Commonwealth Government announced the following initiatives on 21 January 2012. 
 
Banning of the Promotion of Live Odds During Sports Coverage 

The Commonwealth Government is concerned that the promotion of live odds during 
sports coverage can significantly influence vulnerable people, particularly young people, 
and normalise gambling through sports broadcasts. 
 
In June, the Commonwealth Government announced it had reached an agreement with 
commercial and subscription broadcasters to reduce and control the promotion of live 
odds during sports broadcasts. 
 
Broadcasters agreed to amend their existing codes of practice by the end of 2012 to 
restrict live odds promotion, including the banning of sporting commentators from 
mentioning live odds and banning all live odds promotion during play. 
 
Extending Pre-Commitment to Online Betting Services 

The Commonwealth Government intends to work with the states and territories to make 
pre-commitment available to account holders of on-line betting service providers. 
 
In Western Australia, pre-commitment is available to account holders of RWWA. In this 
regard, the customer contacts RWWA who implements the customer‟s pre-commitment 
strategy. However, RWWA advises that it is currently developing mechanisms to enable 
the customer to control their own pre-commitment strategies through the internet.       



P a g e  | 36 

Restricting Online Sports Betting Companies Offering Credit and Introducing 
Stricter Limits on Betting Inducements 

The Commonwealth Government proposes to increase consumer protection measures 
relating to the rules on the provision of lines of credit, restrictions on inducements to 
open accounts and protection of consumer funds. 
 
This would prohibit online betting operators from offering credit to account holders, with 
the exception of professional punters. 
 
The Commonwealth Government also proposes strict limits on the type of betting 
inducements that can be offered; for example, paying commissions to third parties to 
encourage people to open accounts online. 
 
Under the Gaming and Wagering Commission Regulations 1988, gambling operators 
are prohibited from advertising if the advertisement provides inducements for people to 
establish betting accounts.   
 
 
RACING MINISTERS’ CONFERENCE 

The 2011 Australasian Racing Ministers‟ Conference was held in Perth on 23 
September 2011. Racing Ministers met to discuss a wide range of issues impacting on 
the Australian racing industry.  
 
The Ministers were briefed by representatives of the Australian Racing Board, Harness 
Racing Australia and Greyhounds Australasia. The Australian Jockey‟s Association 
provided a briefing on issues relating to jockey welfare. Topics discussed included 
industry integrity, animal welfare, skill shortages, industry funding and the changing 
wagering market.  
 
The Ministers: 
 

 agreed to the in-principle adoption of a unified approach to the regulation of 
gambling advertising based on provisions proposed by NSW, with a cooperative 
approach between jurisdictions to assist in enforcing the provisions on a 
complementary basis;  

 noted the Federal Government‟s concern with the promotion of live odds during 
sports coverage and its intention to regulate this area in the event that self-regulation 
was unsuccessful; 

 discussed the need for a national approach to product fee legislation driven by the 
Commonwealth to ensure the racing industry continues to be a major contributor to 
Australia‟s economy, and proposed a further approach to the Commonwealth 
Government on this issue; and 

 agreed that there is merit in investigating the possibility of a national totalisator pool 
and that Victoria, South Australia and Western Australia will jointly examine the 
issue.       
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The 2012 Australasian Racing Ministers‟ Conference was held on 11 May 2012 in 
Hobart. Ministers received briefings from the Australian Racing Board, Harness Racing 
Australia and Greyhounds Australasia. Among the issues discussed were wagering 
operators‟ advertising, skilled labour shortages in the racing industry and the recent 
High Court decision in relation to race fields.  
 
Ministers agreed to write to the Commonwealth Government seeking urgent support for 
legislation to protect Australian racing from unauthorised offshore wagering operators – 
they recommended the following:  
 

 make it illegal for a telecommunication service provider to facilitate the transactions 
of a bet with a wagering service provider unless that wagering service provider is 
authorised by the relevant racing controlling body; and  

 prevent financial institutions from processing betting transactions with a wagering 
service provider unless they are so authorised.    

 
In May 2012, as part of the endorsement of the National Policy, the Australasian Racing 
Ministers agreed to establish a national racing integrity advisory group, comprising state 
and territory representatives as well as the chief executive officers of the Australian 
Racing Board, Harness Racing Australia and Greyhounds Australasia. The group‟s 
purposes include sharing information, reviewing key integrity issues and developing 
relationships with key stakeholders such as racing and sporting bodies and law 
enforcement agencies. 
 
The group will take a high level approach to racing integrity by sharing information and 
intelligence, reviewing key integrity issues, and developing key relationships with racing 
and sporting bodies as well as law enforcement agencies nationally and internationally. 
 
It was agreed that the health and wellbeing of the racing industry across the three codes 
was largely dependent on its integrity. 
 
 
MATCH FIXING 

As a result of the emerging concern that betting may impact on the outcomes of 
sporting events, in June 2011, the Sport and Recreation Ministers‟ Council endorsed a 
National Policy on Match-Fixing in Sport that commits all stakeholders to protecting the 
integrity of sport from the threat of match-fixing. Stakeholders include all sporting 
controlling bodies, betting agencies, all state governments and the Commonwealth. 
 
Essentially, the policy establishes a legislative and administrative framework for sporting 
organisations, betting agencies and government to effectively deal with the issue of 
match-fixing. 
 
The Department of Sport and Recreation is leading WA‟s involvement in the Racing 
Integrity Advisory Group. 
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RACING BETS LEVY HIGH COURT DECISION 

On 30 March 2012, the High Court of Australia dismissed appeals by Betfair and 
Sportsbet against decisions of the Full Court of the Federal Court of Australia.  
 
Betfair‟s challenge related to the fees imposed by Racing NSW and Harness Racing 
NSW, stating they placed a burden on interstate trade and were designed to protect 
New South Wales wagering operators. Betfair claimed that the fees were protectionist 
and were contrary to section 92 of the Australian Constitution. 
 
Sportsbet challenged the validity of Racing NSW to grant approvals to use NSW race 
fields information provided it paid a fee. 
 
The High Court declared that the approvals given by Racing NSW, conditioned upon the 
payment of the fees, were valid. It also held that wagering turnover thresholds were not 
discriminatory measures of a protectionist kind and that both intrastate and out of State 
competitors were entitled to the benefit of wagering turnover thresholds. The burden of 
the fees was imposed uniformly on both intrastate and out of State wagering operators.  
 
There was no challenge to Western Australian legislation.  Under the Racing Bets Levy 
Act 2009, wagering operators have the option of paying the levy based on 1.5 percent of 
monthly turnover, or on gross revenue, where the option is 20 percent of gross monthly 
revenue or 0.2 percent of turnover (whichever is the greatest). 
 
 
NEW INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY SYSTEM 

The Department‟s current systems infrastructure was first implemented in the mid 
1990s. As a result, systems infrastructure which underpin the Department‟s ability to 
successfully and seamlessly support the provision of its core business activities are not 
intuitive and have either reached the end of their lifespan, or are approaching this stage.  
 
The Department will spend $4.36 million on capital expenditure over the next two years, 
from 2012/13 to 2013/14, to develop and implement a Unified Regulatory System (URS) 
to replace legacy licensing systems.  
 
This will put the Department in a better position to deliver modern, effective and efficient 
services to the Western Australian community. These upgrades will support the 
Department‟s strategic goals of e-government and citizen centric services, by providing 
online licensing services to the community. 
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NEW ORGANISATIONAL STRUCTURE 

During the year in review, the Department has undergone a period of significant 
change. On August 6, 2012, the Department will implement a new organisational 
structure.  
 
The restructure will combine the licensing and compliance areas into industry domains 
of liquor and gambling. The shift towards a domain based structure provides the 
opportunity to appropriately align roles and responsibilities within divisions to maximise 
service delivery to customers and stakeholders.  
 
Under the new structure, the Department comprises five directorates: Liquor Regulation; 
Gambling Regulation; Strategic Regulation; Administrative Law; and Governance and 
Strategy.  
 
As part of the process, a number of new positions have replaced those that were in 
place under the old structure. The following is a brief outline of key new positions and 
the personnel that fill them. 

 
Michael Connolly returned to the Department as the Deputy Director General. Mr 
Connolly, who was previously the Director Compliance with the Department, rejoined 
from the Department of Fisheries. His role will see him leading the implementation of 
policies and initiatives relevant to the regulation of the liquor and gambling industries. 
 
Nicola Perry was appointed Director Liquor Regulation in July 2012 and will be 
instrumental in leading the regulation of the Western Australian liquor industry to 
support harm minimisation and ensure the integrity of industry operations. Ms Perry has 
been with the Department for 12 years and was previously Deputy Director Licensing 
before being appointed to her new position. 
 
Lance Sgro was appointed Director Gambling Regulation in July 2012. Mr Sgro joined 
the Department from the Department of Agriculture and Food. Before that he was with 
the WA Police Service for 18 years where he had a number of roles, including a position 
at the Coroner‟s Office and a role in the Professional Standards directorate. In his new 
position, Mr Sgro will lead the regulation of the Western Australian gaming industry to 
support harm minimisation and ensure the integrity of industry operations.  
 
Mark Beecroft was appointed Director Strategic Regulation in July 2012. Mr Beecroft, 
previously the Department‟s Principal Policy Officer, is responsible for managing the 
development, implementation, and evaluation of harm minimisation policy, legislation 
and regulatory initiatives. He will also facilitate regulatory interventions that align with 
the Department‟s strategic direction. 
 
Elmi Carlean was appointed Director Administrative Law in July 2012. Elmi joined the 
Department from the Department of Water. Ms Carlean leads and manages the 
Administrative Law Branch to ensure the delivery of complex and contentious liquor 
licensing determinations, and provide authoritative advice on complex liquor licensing 
matters. 
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The Administrative Law Branch will facilitate and coordinate the delivery of complex and 
contentious liquor licensing determinations, and provide authoritative advice on complex 
liquor licensing matters. The division will also provide executive support services to the 
Racing Penalties Appeal Tribunal, the Liquor Commission, the Gaming and Wagering 
Commission, the Problem Gambling Support Services Committee and the Gaming 
Community Trust.  
 
The Governance and Strategy Division will maintain its responsibilities for providing 
corporate services to the divisions, as well as provide the support and assistance the 
Department requires to deliver its external services.  

 

NEW ORGANISATIONAL STRUCTURE AS AT 6 AUGUST 2012 
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ACTIVITIES OF THE REGIONAL COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT OFFICER 

A Regional Community Engagement Officer was appointed in November 2011. The 
Regional Community Engagement Officer is responsible for liaising and engaging with 
regional communities, including remote Aboriginal communities, and internal and 
external stakeholders in relation to liquor control and gambling. A key objective of the 
role is to initiate and support harm minimisation projects at a regional level. This 
involves undertaking fieldwork and detailed research, analysis and assessment of the 
social impacts of the liquor and gambling industries in remote communities. 
 

The Regional Community Engagement Officer also acts as a key liaison point in the 
community, and works collaboratively with regional communities to develop productive 
relationships between those communities and the Department. 
 

During 2011/12, the Regional Community Engagement Officer visited the Kimberly, 
Pilbara and Goldfields regions. Highlights included: 

 Establishing relationships with key local agency and community representatives, 
including WA Police, Department for Child Protection, Department of Indigenous 
Affairs, local Shires, local liquor accords and Aboriginal groups. 

 Discussions with community groups regarding the impact of section 64 liquor 
restrictions introduced in regional communities. 

 Discussions with communities in the Pilbara region regarding proposed section 64 
liquor restrictions. 

 Visiting Aboriginal communities where section 175 liquor restrictions apply to assess 
the impact of those restrictions.  

 Raising awareness of the support available to communities seeking to minimise 
alcohol-related harm. This included providing an overview of the liquor restricted 
premises process. 

ACTIVITIES OF THE CLIENT LIAISON TEAM 

The Coordinator Customer Services and the Client Liaison Officer have attended 
various Liquor Accord meetings; similar industry-related meetings; and presented 
information to stakeholders and members of the public, providing an overview of liquor 
and community gaming laws and answering questions asked. Presentations have been 
presented in both metropolitan and regional areas.  
 

The Coordinator Customer Services and the Client Liaison Officer continue to conduct 
free monthly seminars for: 

 prospective licensees interested in applying for a liquor licence, providing in-depth 
information on the statutory requirements and licensing process involved in applying 
for a liquor licence; 

 existing licensees, designed to provide a better understanding of the Western 
Australian liquor laws; and 

 not-for-profit groups, designed to provide an understanding of the Western 
Australian community gaming laws.  
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Positive feedback continues to be received in respect of these services.  
 
Other activities included:  

 meeting with new licensees onsite who have recently been issued with a liquor 
licence, to ensure they understand their conditions of licence and their obligations 
and responsibilities under the Liquor Control Act 1988. Positive feedback has been 
received in respect of the delivery of this service;  

 presentations to industry groups (predominantly club licence holders and local 
government) on the liquor laws and liquor legislation in general and; and 

 briefing new croupiers and security personnel at Burswood on the Casino Control 
Act and Regulations. 

ATTENDANCES AT CONFERENCES AND MEETINGS 

Senior officers from the Department attended the following conferences in 2011/12: 

 Mark Beecroft attended the Gambling Research Australia meeting in Brisbane in 
August 2011. 

 Johnathan Zee attended the Microsoft Tech Ed 2011 Annual Conference in Brisbane 
in August 2011. 

 Barry Sargeant and Janine Belling attended the Australasian Liquor Licensing 
Authorities (ALLA) Indigenous Working Group and the ALLA Conference in Perth in 
September 2011. 

 Barry Sargeant attended the Australasian Racing Ministers Conference in Perth in 
September 2011. 

 Barry Sargeant attended the COAG Select Council on Gambling Reform Senior 
Official‟s Meeting in Sydney in October 2011. 

 Janine Belling attended the International Association of Gaming Regulators 
Conference in Cape Town, South Africa in October 2011. 

 Barry Sargeant attended the Interactive Gambling Act 2011 Review Workshop in 
Canberra in November 2011. 

 Barry Sargeant attended the Australasian Casino and Gaming Regulators 
Conference in Canberra in December 2011. 

 Clare Anderson attended the Leadership Psychology Conference in Melbourne in 
February 2012. 

 Mark Beecroft attended the Gambling Research Australia meeting in Melbourne in 
March 2012. 

 Barry Sargeant and Janine Belling attended the Australasian Casino and Gaming 
Regulators Conference in Canberra in March 2012. 

 Barry Sargeant attended the Australasian Racing Ministers Conference in Hobart in 
May 2012.  
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BEYOND GAMBLING GRANTS PROGRAM 

The Beyond Gambling Grants Program was formed following the 2010 agreement 
between the State Government and the Burswood Entertainment Complex for an 
addition of 250 electronic gaming machines. The State Government secured a one-off 
payment of $2 million and an annual appropriation of $500,000 towards problem 
gambling help programs. 
 

The objectives of the grant program are to: 

 Raise awareness of the effects of problem social gambling on individuals, families 
and communities. 

 Strengthen the capacity of individuals, families and communities to reduce the level 
of gambling in the community. 

 Strengthen the capacity of the non-government sector to work with individuals, 
families and communities on the impact of problem social gambling. 

 Address the impact of problem social gambling on individuals, families and 
communities. 

 

The Program is jointly managed between the Department for Communities and the 
Department of Racing, Gaming and Liquor.  
 

Details of the projects funded by the Program are provided below. 
 

Jungarni-Jutiya Indigenous Corporation 

A grant of $200,000 was awarded to the Jungarni-Jutiya Indigenous Corporation to 
implement the Beyond Gambling Project. The project will provide an educational 
program in schools in the Kimberley region to address problem gambling issues and 
provide diversionary activities for adults. A training component will also be provided to 
the project‟s staff.  
 

Joondalup Men’s Shed 

A grant of $85,700 was granted to the Joondalup Men‟s Shed to implement the Filling 
the Void Project. The project will provide community based activities aimed at reducing 
the incidence of problem gambling in men. A 12 month media campaign will encourage 
men to embrace the program as an alternative to social gambling.   
 

Bidyadanga Aboriginal Community La Grange Inc. 

A grant of $194,120 was awarded to the Bidyadanga Aboriginal Community La Grange 
Inc to implement the Bidyadanga Gambling Diversion Project. The project will provide 
diversionary activities for problem gamblers within the Bidyadanga community. A 
Community Development Facilitator will establish a diversionary and educational 
program model aimed at increasing engagement opportunities for members of the 
community. The program will also be offered to young people.   
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CHANGES IN LEGISLATION 

CHANGES TO ACTS 

Part 3 of the Liquor Control Amendment Act 2010 was proclaimed on 8 October 2011. 
This introduced provisions under Part 5B of the Liquor Control Act 1988 to enable a 
prescribed class of person or the owner or occupier of a residential premises to apply to 
the Director of Liquor Licensing to have their premises declared a liquor restricted 
premises for a specific period, thereby prohibiting the consumption of alcohol therein.   
 
 

CHANGES TO REGULATIONS 

 The Liquor Control Amendment Regulations (No. 9) 2011 provided new fees and 
charges under the Liquor Control Act 1988 effective from 1 January 2012. 

 

 The Liquor Control Amendment Regulations (No. 5) 2011 amended the Liquor 
Control Regulations 1989 on 16 July 2011 to prescribe specific circumstances 
whereby the sale, supply and consumption of liquor is exempt from the application of 
the Liquor Control Act 1988. 

 

 The Liquor Control Amendment Regulations (No. 8) 2011 came in effect on 28 
September 2011. The amendment regulations prescribed section 50(1a) of the 
Liquor Control Act 1988 as a section of the Act that can be modified when a special 
event notice is in place.  

 

For example, the Minister declared via a Special Event Notice issued under section 
126E of the Act, that the 2011 Sailing World Championships was a special event. 
The special event notice was in place from 26 November 2011 to midnight on 24 
December 2011 and applied to the City of Fremantle. 

 

The effect of the amendments made it possible for a licensee of a Restaurant 
licence with a Liquor Without a Meal permit in the City of Fremantle to serve liquor to 
patrons from bar areas without the requirement for a patron to consume liquor while 
seated at a table during the period of the special event.  

 

 The Liquor Control Amendment Regulations (No. 6) 2011 amended the Liquor 
Control Regulations 1989 on 7 October 2011 to: 

 introduce regulations to support the introduction of Part 5B (i.e. liquor restricted 
premises) into the Liquor Control Act 1888; 

 remove the requirement for students to sell or supply liquor ancillary to a meal 
where they are enrolled in a course of instruction or training conducted by a 
vocational education and training institution or higher education institution, in 
order for the students to achieve their learning outcomes; and 

 provide education institutions that have been granted a special facility licence, in 
accordance with regulation 9A(10c), the ability to sell or supply liquor in any area 
approved by the Director in writing, and to a liquor merchant in any quantity 
where the sale is approved by the Director in writing. 
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 The Liquor Control Amendment Regulations (No. 10) 2011 amended the Liquor 
Control Regulations 1989 on 6 January 2012 to: 

 authorise the sale of liquor either on the licensed premises (i.e. the train, bus, 
ship or vehicle) and/or via bookings made through an office which is operated by 
the licensee; 

 allow for the submission of a National Police Clearance Certificate that is no 
more than three months old at the time of lodgement; and 

 specify that a passport which is confiscated because it is suspected of being 
forged, false or counterfeit must be returned to the person from whom it was 
confiscated (where appropriate) or the Department of Foreign Affairs and Trade6.  

 
 
RESTRICTED AREA REGULATIONS 

 The Liquor Control (Noonkanbah Restricted Area) Amendment Regulations 2011 
came into operation on 23 July 2011 and extended for three years, the declaration to 
prohibit a person from bringing in and possessing liquor in the Noonkanbah 
Aboriginal Community.  
 

 The Liquor Control (Juwurlinji Restricted Area) Regulations 2011 came into 
operation on 23 July 2011 and extended for three years, the declaration to prohibit a 
person from bringing in and possessing liquor in the Juwurlinji Aboriginal 
Community.  

 

 The Liquor Control (Noonkanbah Restricted Area) Amendment Regulations 2011 
came into operation on 9 November 2011 to increase the area to which the 
restricted area regulations relate.  

 

 The Liquor Control (Yakanarra Restricted Area) Amendment Regulations 2012 came 
into operation on 28 April 2012 and extended for three years, the declaration to 
prohibit a person from bringing in and possessing liquor in the Yakanarra Aboriginal 
Community.   

  

                                                           
6 This amendment is subject to a disallowance motion and may be rescinded. 
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DISCLOSURES AND LEGAL COMPLIANCE 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

The aim of the Financial Statements is to present to Parliament details of revenue and 
expenditure for the Department of Racing, Gaming and Liquor in the format determined 
by Statement of Accounting Standard AAS 29: Financial Reporting by Government 
Departments. It should be noted that: 
 

 the Department of Racing, Gaming and Liquor is a Department as defined under the 
Public Sector Management Act 1994; 

 these financial statements have been prepared on an accrual basis in accordance 
with the provisions of the Financial Management Act 2006; and 

 the Department provides financial management and other corporate services to the 
Gaming and Wagering Commission, the Racing Penalties Appeal Tribunal and the 
Liquor Commission. 

 
CERTIFICATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

The accompanying financial statements of the Department of Racing, Gaming and 
Liquor have been prepared in compliance with the provisions of the Financial 
Management Act 2006 from proper accounts and records to present fairly the financial 
transactions for the financial year ending 30 June 2012 and the financial position as at 
30 June 2012. 
 
At the date of signing, we are not aware of any circumstances which would render any 
particulars included in the financial statements misleading or inaccurate. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Terry Ng      Barry A Sargeant 
Chief Finance Officer    Director General 
27 July 2012      27 July 2012 
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DEPARTMENT OF RACING, GAMING AND LIQUOR
STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2012

Note 2012 2011

 $000 $000

COST OF SERVICES

Expenses 

Employee benefits expense 6 9,314 9,308

Supplies and services 7 3,275 2,336

Depreciation and amortisation expense 8 317 278

Accommodation expenses 9 1,212 939

Loss on disposal of non-current assets 10 0 1

Other expenses  11 331 320

Total cost of services 14,449 13,182

Income

Revenue 

User charges and fees 12 10,611 9,034

Total revenue 10,611 9,034

Total income other than income 

from State Government 10,611 9,034

NET COST OF SERVICES 25 3,838 4,148

Income from State Government 13

Service appropriation  3,858 3,615

Resources received free of charge  130 181

Total income from State Government 3,988 3,796

SURPLUS/(DEFICIT) FOR THE PERIOD 150 (352)                  

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Changes in asset revaluation surplus 0 0

Gain/losses recognised directly in equity 0 0
  

Total other comprehensive income 0 0

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE PERIOD 150 (352)                  

The Statement of  Comprehensive Income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

See also the 'Schedule of  Income and Expenses by Service'.
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DEPARTMENT OF RACING, GAMING AND LIQUOR
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

AS AT 30 JUNE 2012

Note 2012 2011

$000 $000
ASSETS

Current Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 25 476 505

Restricted cash and cash equivalents 14, 25 18 15

Receivables 15 962 579

Amounts receivable for services (Holding Account) 16 150 50

Total Current Assets 1,606 1,149

Non-Current Assets

Restricted cash and cash equivalents 14, 25 218 96

Amounts receivable for services (Holding Account) 16 1,784 1,696

Plant and equipment 17 637 365

Intangible assets 18 1,878 2,049

Total Non-Current Assets 4,517 4,206

TOTAL ASSETS 6,123 5,355

LIABILITIES

Current Liabilities

Payables 20 1,101 650

Provisions 21 1,405 962

Other current liabilities 22 70 46

Total Current Liabilities 2,576 1,658

Non-Current Liabilities

Provisions 21 734 1,034

Total Non-Current Liabilities 734 1,034

TOTAL LIABILITIES 3,310 2,692

NET ASSETS 2,813 2,663

EQUITY 23

Contributed equity 454 454

Accumulated surplus/(deficit)  2,359 2,209

TOTAL EQUITY 2,813 2,663

 

See also the 'Schedule of  Assets and Liabilities by Service'.

The Statement of  Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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DEPARTMENT OF RACING, GAMING AND LIQUOR
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2012

 Accumulated

Contributed surplus/

Note equity Reserves (deficit) Total equity

$000 $000 $000 $000

Balance at 1 July 2010 23 454 0 2,561 3,015

Changes in accounting policy or correction of 0 0 0 0

prior period errors

Restated balance at 1 July 2010   454 0 2,561 3,015

Surplus/(deficit) 0 0 (352)             (352)                 

Other comprehensive income 0 0 0 0

Total comprehensive income for the period 0 0 (352)             (352)                 

Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners:

Capital appropriations 0 0 0 0

Other contributions by owners 0 0 0 0

Distributions to owners 0 0 0 0

Total 0 0 0 0

Balance at 30 June 2011 454 0 2,209 2,663

Balance at 1 July 2011 454 0 2,209 2,663

Surplus/(deficit) 0 0 150 150

Other comprehensive income 0 0 0 0

Total comprehensive income for the period 0 0 150 150

Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners:

Capital appropriations 0 0 0 0

Other contributions by owners 0 0 0 0

Distributions to owners 0 0 0 0

Total 0 0 0 0

Balance at 30 June 2012 454 0 2,359 2,813

The Statement of  Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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DEPARTMENT OF RACING, GAMING AND LIQUOR
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2012

Note 2012 2011

$000 $000

CASH FLOWS FROM STATE GOVERNMENT

Service appropriation  4,120 3,377

Holding account drawdowns  50 645

Net cash provided by State Government 4,170 4,022

Utilised as follows:

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Payments

Employee benefits (9,375)           (9,031)           

Supplies and services  (3,419)           (2,264)           

Accommodation (1,309)           (932)             

GST payments on purchases (566)             (301)             

GST payments to taxation authority (12)               (31)               

Receipts  

User charges and fees  10,441 8,501

GST receipts on sales 12 1

GST receipts from taxation authority 594 317

Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities 25 (3,634)           (3,740)           

  

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Payments     

Purchase of non-current physical assets (414)             (580)             

Payments

Payments from fees in trust (963)             (945)             

Receipts

Proceeds from fees in trust 937 921

Net cash provided by/(used in) investing activities (440)             (604)             

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 96 (322)             

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period 616 938

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF THE PERIOD 25 712 616

  

  The Statement of  Cash Flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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DEPARTMENT OF RACING, GAMING AND LIQUOR

SCHEDULE OF INCOME AND EXPENSES BY SERVICE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2012

Licensing - Evaluation and

Total

2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011

$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

COST OF SERVICES

Expenses

Employee benefits expense 4,799 4,808 4,515 4,500 9,314 9,308

Supplies and services 1,641 1,182 1,634 1,154 3,275 2,336

Depreciation and amortisation expense 159 139 158 139 317 278

Accommodation expenses 606 469 606 470 1,212 939

Loss on disposal of non-current assets 0 1 0 0 0 1

Other expenses  174 167 157 153 331 320

Total cost of services 7,379 6,766 7,070 6,416 14,449 13,182

Income     

User charges and fees 5,765 4,517 4,846 4,517 10,611 9,034

Total income other than income from State Government 5,765 4,517 4,846 4,517 10,611 9,034

NET COST OF SERVICES 1,614 2,249 2,224 1,899 3,838 4,148

Income from State Government

Service appropriation 1,611 1,807 2,247 1,808 3,858 3,615

Resources received free of charge 65 91 65 90 130 181

Total income from State Government 1,676 1,898 2,312 1,898 3,988 3,796

SURPLUS/(DEFICIT) FOR THE PERIOD 62 (351) 88 (1) 150 (352)

The Schedule of Income and Expenses by Service should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

determination of applications and inspections

Compliance audits
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DEPARTMENT OF RACING, GAMING AND LIQUOR

SCHEDULE OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BY SERVICE

AS AT 30 JUNE 2012  

Licensing - Evaluation and

Total

2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011

$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

Assets
Current assets 803 575 803 574 1,606 1,149

Non-current assets 2,259 2,103 2,258 2,103 4,517 4,206

Total assets 3,062 2,678 3,061 2,677 6,123 5,355

Liabilities     

Current liabilities 1,288 829 1,288 829 2,576 1,658

Total non-current liabilities 367 517 367 517 734 1,034

Total liabilities 1,655 1,346 1,655 1,346 3,310 2,692

NET ASSETS 1,407 1,332 1,406 1,331 2,813 2,663

The Schedule of Assets and Liabilities by Service should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Compliance audits

determination of applications and inspections
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DEPARTMENT OF RACING, GAMING AND LIQUOR
SUMMARY OF CONSOLIDATED ACCOUNT APPROPRIATIONS AND INCOME ESTIMATES

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2012

2012 2012 2012 2011

Estimate Actual Variance Actual Actual Variance

$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

Delivery Services

Item 73 Net amount appropriated to deliver services 4,081 3,581 500 3,581 3,350 231

Amount Authorised by Other Statutes 

  - Salaries and Allowances Act 1975 277 277 0 277 265 12

Total appropriations provided to deliver services 4,358 3,858 500 3,858 3,615 243

CAPITAL

Capital appropriations 0 0 0 0 0 0

Administered Transactions

Item 74 Administered grants, subsidies and other transfer payments 102,277 96,330 5,947 96,330 88,241 8,089

Amount Authorised by Other Statutes

  - Liquor Control Act 1988 5,000 2,093 2,907 2,093 1,855 238

Total Administered Transactions 107,277 98,423 8,854 98,423 90,096 8,327

GRAND TOTAL  111,635 102,281 9,354 102,281 93,711 8,570

Details of Expenses by Service

Service 1 : Licensing - Evaluation and determination of applications 6,549 7,379 (830) 7,379 6,766 613

Service 2 : Compliance audits and inspections 6,445 7,070 (625) 7,070 6,416 654

Total Cost of Services 12,994 14,449 (1,455) 14,449 13,182 1,267

Less total income (8,722) (10,611) 1,889 (10,611) (9,034) (1,577)

Net Cost of Services 4,272 3,838 434 3,838 4,148 (310)

Adjustments 86 20 66 20 (533) 553

Total appropriations provided to deliver services 4,358 3,858 500 3,858 3,615 243

Capital Expenditure

Purchase of non-current physical assets 50 418 (368) 418 580 (162)

Adjustments for other funding sources (50) (418) 368 (418) (580) 162

Capital appropriations 0 0 0 0 0 0

Details of Income Estimates

Income disclosed as Administered Income

Taxes and licences

       Casino Tax 115,000 108,126 6,874 108,126 89,626 18,500

Adjustments comprise movements in cash balances and other accrual items such as receivables, payables and superannuation.

Note 29 'Explanatory statement' provides details of any significant variations between estimates and actual results for 2012 and between the actual results for 2012 and 2011.
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DEPARTMENT OF RACING, GAMING AND LIQUOR
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2012
 

  Note 1. Australian Accounting Standards

General

 
 
 

 Note 2. Summary of significant accounting policies

 (a) General statement

 (b) Basis of preparation

 (c) Reporting entity

The Department is a not-for-profit reporting entity that prepares general purpose financial statements in accordance 
with Australian Accounting Standards, the Framework, Statements of Accounting Concepts and other authoritative 
pronouncements of the AASB as applied by the Treasurer's instructions.  Several of these are modified by the 
Treasurer's instructions to vary application, disclosure, format and wording.

The Financial Management Act and the Treasurer's instructions impose legislative provisions that govern the 
preparation of financial statements and take precedence over Australian Accounting Standards, the Framework, 
Statements of Accounting Concepts and other authoritative pronouncements of the AASB.  

Where modification is required and has had a material or significant financial effect upon the reported results, details of 
that modification and the resulting financial effect are disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.

The financial statements have been prepared on the accrual basis of accounting using the historical cost convention. 

The accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial statements have been consistently applied 
throughout all periods presented unless otherwise stated.

The financial statements are presented in Australian dollars and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand dollars 
($'000).

Note 3 'Judgements made by management in applying accounting policies‟ discloses judgements that have been made 
in the process of applying the Department's accounting policies resulting in the most significant effect on amounts 
recognised in the financial statements.

Note 4 „Key sources of estimation uncertainty‟ discloses key assumptions made concerning the future, and other key 
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material 
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.

The Department‟s financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2012 have been prepared in accordance with 
Australian Accounting Standards.  The term „Australian Accounting Standards‟ includes Standards and Interpretations 
issued by the Australian Accounting Standard Board (AASB). 

The Department has adopted any applicable, new and revised Australian Accounting Standards from their operative 
dates. 

Early adoption of standards
The Department cannot early adopt an Australian Accounting Standard unless specifically permitted by TI 1101 
Application of Australian Accounting Standards and Other Pronouncements.  There has been no early adoption of 
Australian Accounting Standards that have been issued or amended  (but not operative) by the Department for the 
annual reporting period ended 30 June 2012.

The reporting entity comprises the Department only.

Mission
To regulate the liquor and gambling industries in Western Australia

The Department is partly funded by Parliamentary appropriations. During 2011-12, the Department provided financial 
management and other corporate support services to other agencies that are charged out on a full cost recovery basis:
- Racing Penalties Appeal Tribunal
- Gaming and Wagering Commission of Western Australia.
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 (d) Contributed equity

 (e) Income

Revenue recognition

Sale of goods

Provision of services

 Service appropriations

 Net Appropriation Determination

Gains

Service Appropriations are recognised as revenues at fair value in the period in which the Department gains control of 
the appropriated funds.  The Department gains control of appropriated funds at the time those funds are deposited to 
the bank account or credited to the „Amounts receivable for services‟ (holding account) held at Treasury.  

The Treasurer may make a determination providing for prescribed receipts to be retained for services under the control 
of the Department. In accordance with the determination specified in the 2011-12 Budget Statements, the Department 
retained $10.61 million in 2012 ($9.03 million in 2011) from the following:

* proceeds from the provision of services to the racing and gaming Industries;
* proceeds from the provision of services to the Commonwealth in respect of Indian Ocean Territories; and
* liquor fees and other revenue.

Services
The Department provides the following services:

Service 1 : Licensing - Evaluation and determination of applications
*Receive, process and determine applications in accordance with the legislation.

Service 2 : Compliance audits and inspections
*Perform audits and inspections to verify that the provision of gambling and liquor is conducted in a responsible and 
lawful manner.

The Department administers assets, liabilities, income and expenses on behalf of Government which are not controlled 
by, nor integral, to the function of the Department.  These administered balances and transactions are not recognised 
in the principal financial statements of the Department but schedules are prepared using the same basis as the 
financial statements and are presented at note 34 „Disclosure of administered expenses and income‟ and note 35 
„Administered assets and liabilities‟.

AASB Interpretation 1038 Contributions by Owners Made to Wholly-Owned Public Sector Entities requires transfers in 
the nature of equity contributions, other than as a result of a restructure of administrative arrangements, to be 
designated by the Government (the owner) as contributions by owners (at the time of, or prior to transfer) before such 
transfers can be recognised as equity contributions.  Capital appropriations have been designated as contributions by 
owners by TI 955 Contributions by Owners made to Wholly Owned Public Sector Entities and have been credited 
directly to Contributed equity. 

The transfer of net assets to/from other agencies, other than as a result of a restructure of administrative 
arrangements, are designated as contributions by owners where the transfers are non-discretionary and non-
reciprocal.

Revenue is recognised and measured at the fair value of consideration received or receivable. Revenue is recognised 
for the major business activities as follows:

Revenue is recognised from the sale of goods and disposal of other assets when the significant risks and rewards of 
ownership transfer to the purchaser and can be measured reliably.

Revenue is recognised by reference to the stage of completion of the transaction.

Realised or unrealised gains are usually recognised on a net basis. These include gains arising on the disposal of non-
current assets.



P a g e  | 56 

 (f) Plant and equipment

Initial recognition and measurement

Subsequent measurement

 Depreciation  

 (g) Intangible Assets

 

All non-current assets having a limited useful life are systematically depreciated over their estimated useful lives in a 
manner that reflects the consumption of their future economic benefits.

Depreciation is calculated using the straight line method, using rates which are reviewed annually. Estimated useful 
lives for each class of depreciable asset are:

Furniture equipment           10  - 15 years               
Office equipment                 5  years                     

Plant and equipment are initially recognised at cost.

For items of plant and equipment acquired at no cost or for nominal consideration, the cost is the fair value at the date 
of acquisition.

Subsequent to initial recognition as an asset, the Department uses the historical cost model for the measurement of 
plant and equipment. Plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated 
impairment losses.

Capitalisation/expensing of assets
Acquisitions of intangible assets costing $5,000 or more and internally generated intangible assets costing $50,000 or 
more are capitalised.  The cost of utilising the assets is expensed (amortised) over their useful lives. Costs incurred 
below these thresholds are immediately expensed directly to the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

Intangible assets are initially recognised at cost.  For assets acquired at no cost or for nominal cost, the cost is their fair 
value at the date of acquisition.

The cost model is applied for subsequent measurement requiring the asset to be carried at cost less any accumulated 
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses.

Amortisation for intangible assets with finite useful lives is calculated for the period of the expected benefit (estimated 
useful life which is reviewed annually) on the straight line basis. All intangible assets controlled by the Department have 
a finite useful life and zero residual value. 

The expected useful lives for computer software is five to ten years.

Licences
Licences have a finite useful life and are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment 
losses.

Development costs
Research costs are expensed as incurred. Development costs incurred for an individual project are carried forward 
when the future economic benefits can reasonably be regarded as assured and the total project costs are likely to 
exceed $50,000. Other development costs are expensed as incurred.

Computer Software
Software that is an integral part of the related hardware is treated as plant and equipment. Software that is not an 
integral part of the related hardware is recognised as an intangible asset. Software costing less than $5,000 is 
expensed in the year of acquisition.

Website costs
Website costs are charged as expenses when they are incurred unless they relate to the acquisition or development of 
an asset when they may be capitalised and amortised. Generally, costs in relation to feasibility studies during the 
planning phase of a website, and ongoing costs of maintenance during the operating phase are expensed. Costs 
incurred in building or enhancing a website, to the extent that they represent probable future economic benefits that 
can be reliably measured, are capitalised.

Capitalisation/expensing of assets
Items of plant and equipment costing $5,000 or more are recognised as assets and the cost of utilising assets is 
expensed (depreciated) over their useful lives.  Items of plant and equipment costing less than $5,000 are immediately 
expensed direct to the Statement of Comprehensive Income.
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 (h) Impairment of assets

 (i) Leases

 (j) Financial instruments

 (k) Cash and cash equivalents

 (l) Accrued salaries

 (m) Amounts receivable for services (holding account)

 (n) Receivables 

 (o) Payables

Receivables are recognised at original invoice amount less an allowance for any uncollectible amounts (i.e. impairment).  The
collectability of  receivables is reviewed on an ongoing basis and any receivables identif ied as uncollectible are written of f against the 
allowance account.  The allowance for uncollectible amounts (doubtful debts) is raised when there is objective evidence that the

Department will not be able to collect the debts.  The carrying amount is equivalent to fair value as it is due for settlement within 30 
days.  

For the purpose of  the Statement of  Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalent (and restricted cash and cash equivalent) assets 
comprise cash on hand.

The Department holds operating leases for motor vehicles, of f ice accommodation and of fice equipment. Lease payments are 
expensed on a straight line basis over the lease term as this represents the pattern of  benef its derived f rom the leased prop erties.

Payables are recognised at the amounts payable when the Department becomes obliged to make future payments as a result of  a 
purchase of  assets or services. The carrying amount is equivalent to fair value, as settlement is generally within 30 days.

Accrued salaries [refer to note 20 „Payables‟] represent the amount due to staf f  but unpaid at the end of  the f inancial year. Accrued 
salaries are settled within a fortnight of  the f inancial year end.  The Department considers the carrying amount of  accrued s alaries to 
be equivalent to its fair value.

The accrued salaries suspense account [refer to note 14 „Restricted cash and cash equivalents‟] consists of  amounts paid annually 
into a suspense account over a period of  10 f inancial years to largely meet the additional cash outf low in each eleventh year when 

27 pay days occur instead of  the normal 26.  No interest is received on this account.  

Plant and equipment, and intangible assets are tested for any indication of  impairment at the end of  each reporting period. Where 
there is an indication of  impairment, the recoverable amount is estimated. Where the recoverable amount is less than the carrying 
amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written down to the recoverable amount and an impairment loss is recognised. As 

the Department is a not-for-prof it entity, unless an asset has been identif ied as a surplus asset, the recoverable amount is the
higher of  an asset's fair value less costs to sell and depreciated replacement cost.

The risk of  impairment is generally limited to circumstances where an asset's depreciation is materially understated, where t he 

replacement cost is falling or where there is a signif icant change in useful life. Each relevant class of  assets is reviewed annually to 
verify that the accumulated depreciation/amortisation ref lects the level of  consumption or expiration of   the  asset's future economic 
benef its and to evaluate any impairment risk f rom falling replacement costs.

Intangible assets with an indef inite useful life and intangible assets not yet available for use are tested for impairment at the end of  
each reporting period irrespective of  whether there is any indication of  impairment.

The recoverable amount of  assets identif ied as surplus assets is the higher of  fair value less costs to sell and the present value of  
future cash f lows expected to be derived f rom the asset. Surplus assets carried at fair value have no risk of  material impairment 

where fair value is determined by reference to market-based evidence.  Where fair value is determined by reference to depreciated 
replacement cost, surplus assets are at risk of  impairment and the recoverable amount is measured.  Surplus assets at cost are 
tested for indications of  impairment at the end of  each reporting period.

In addition to cash, the Department has two categories of  f inancial instrument:

* Receivables; and
* Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost.

Financial instruments have been disaggregated into the following classes:

* Financial Assets
- Cash and cash equivalents
- Restricted cash and cash equivalents

- Receivables
- Amounts receivable for services

* Financial Liabilities
- Payables

Initial recognition and measurement of  f inancial instruments is at fair value which normally equates to the transaction cost or the face 

value. Subsequent measurement is at amortised cost using the ef fective interest method.

The fair value of  short-term receivables and payables is the transaction cost or the face value because there is no interest rat e 

applicable and subsequent measurement is not required as the ef fect of  discounting is not material.

The Department receives funding on an accrual basis. The appropriations are paid partly in cash and partly as an asset (holdi ng 
account receivable). The accrued amount receivable is accessible on the emergence of  the cash funding requirement to cover leave
entitlements and asset replacement.
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 (p) Provisions 

Provisions  - employee benefits

Provisions are liabilities of uncertain timing or amount and are recognised where there is a present legal or constructive 
obligation as a result of a past event and when the outflow of resources embodying economic benefits is probable and a 
reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.  Provisions are reviewed at the end of each reporting 
period. 

All annual leave and long service leave provisions are in respect of  employees' services up to the end of  the reporting perio d.

Annual  leave 

The liability for annual leave that is expected to be settled within 12 months af ter the end of  the reporting period is recognised and 
measured at the undiscounted amounts expected to be paid when the liability is settled.  

Annual leave that is not expected to be settled within 12 months af ter the end of  the reporting period is recognised and measured at 
the present value of  amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled using the remuneration rate expected to app ly at 
the time of  settlement.

When assessing expected future payments consideration is given to expected future wage and salary levels including non-salary 
components such as employer superannuation contributions, as well as the experience of  employee departures and periods of  

service. The expected future payments are discounted using market yields at the end of  the reporting period on national government 
bonds with terms to maturity that match, as closely as possible, the estimated future cash outf lows.

The provision for annual leave is classif ied as a current liability as the Department does not have an unconditional right to defer 
settlement of  the liability for at least 12 months af ter the end of  the reporting period.

Long service leave
The liability for long service leave that is expected to be settled within 12 months af ter the end of  the reporting period is recognised 
and measured at the undiscounted amounts expected to be paid when the liability is settled.

Long service leave that is not expected to be settled within 12 months af ter the end of  the reporting period is recognised and 
measured at the present value of  amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled using the remuneration rate exp ected 

to apply at the time of  settlement.

When assessing expected future payments consideration is given to expected future wage and salary levels including non-salary 

components such as employer superannuation contributions, as well as the experience of  employee departures and periods of  
service. The expected future payments are discounted using market yields at the end of  the reporting period on national government 
bonds with terms to maturity that match, as closely as possible, the estimated future cash outf lows.

Unconditional long service leave provisions are classif ied as current liabilities as the Department does not have an uncondit ional 
right to defer settlement of  the liability for at least 12 months af ter the end of  the reporting period. Pre-conditional and conditional 

long service leave provisions are classif ied as non-current liabilities because the Department has an unconditional right to def er the 
settlement of  the liability until the employee has completed the requisite years of  service.

Sick Leave
Liabilities for sick leave are recognised when it is probable that sick leave paid in the future will be greater than the ent itlement that 
will accrue in the future.

Past history indicates that on average, sick leave taken each reporting period is less than the entitlement accrued.  This is expected 
to continue in future periods.  Accordingly, it is unlikely that existing accumulated entitlements will be used by employees and no 

liability for unused sick leave entitlements is recognised.  As sick leave is non-vesting, an expense is recognised in the Statement of  
Comprehensive Income for this leave as it is taken.

Purchased Leave
The provision for purchased leave relates to Public Service employees who have entered into an agreement to self -fund up to an 
additional 10 weeks leave per calendar year.  The provision recognises the value of  salary set aside for employees and is measured 

at the nominal amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled.  This liability is measured on the same basis as annual 
leave.

Superannuation
The Government Employees Superannuation Board (GESB) and other funds administer public sector superannuation arrangements 
in Western Australia in accordance with legislative requirements. Eligibility criteria for membership in particular schemes f or public 

sector employees varies according to commencement and implementation dates.

Eligible employees contribute to the Pension Scheme, a def ined benef it pension scheme closed to new members since 1987, or the 

Gold State Superannuation Scheme (GSS), a def ined benef it lump sum scheme closed to new members since 1995.

The GSS is a def ined benef it scheme for the purposes of  employees and whole-of-government reporting. However, it is a def ined 

contribution plan for agency purposes because the concurrent contributions (def ined contributions) made by the Department to 
GESB extinguishes the agency's obligations to the related superannuation liability.

The Department has no liabilities under the Pension Scheme or the GSS. The liabilities for the unfunded Pension Scheme and the 
unfunded GSS transfer benef its attributable to members who transferred f rom the Pension Scheme, are assumed by the Treasurer.
All other GSS obligations are funded by concurrent contributions made by the Department to the GESB. 



P a g e  | 59 

  

Provisions  - Other

(q) Superannuation expense

(r) Resources received free of charge or for nominal cost

  

 (s) Fees in trust

 (t) Comparative figures

 Note 3. Judgements made by management in applying accounting policies

 

 

 

 Note 4. Key sources of estimation uncertainty

Resources received free of charge or for nominal cost that can be reliably measured are recognised as income at fair 
value. Where the resource received represents a service that the Department would otherwise pay for, a corresponding 
expense is recognised. Receipts of assets are recognised in the Statement of Financial Position.

Assets or services are received from other State Government agencies are separately disclosed under Income from 

Comparative figures are, where appropriate, reclassified to be comparable with the figures presented in the current 
financial year.

Fees in trust mainly represent the outstanding balances of liquor licence fees related to Christmas and Cocos Islands.

Employment on-costs
Employment on-costs, including workers‟ compensation insurance, are not employee benefits and are recognised 
separately as liabilities and expenses when the employment to which they relate has occurred.  Employment on-costs 
are included as part of „Other expenses‟ and are not included as part of the Department‟s „Employee benefits expense‟.  
The related liability is included in „Employment on-costs provision‟.  

Restoration Costs
A provision is recognised where the Department has a legal or constructive obligation to undertake restoration work.  
Estimates are based on the present value of expected future cash outflows.

The preparation of financial statements requires management to make judgements about the application of accounting 
policies that have a significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements.  The Department evaluates 
these judgements regularly.

Operating Lease Commitments
The Department has entered into a number of commercial lease arrangements for motor vehicles, office 
accommodation and office equipment and has determined that the lessor retains substantially all the significant risks 
and rewards incidental to ownership. Accordingly, these leases have been classified as operating leases.

Key estimates and assumptions concerning the future are based on historical experience and various other factors that 
have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amount of assets and liabilities within the next 
financial year.

Long Service Leave
Several estimations and assumptions used in calculating the Department's long service leave provision include 
expected future salary rates, discount rates, employee retention rates and expected future payments. Changes in these 
estimations and assumptions may impact on the carrying amount of the long service leave provision.

The superannuation expense in the Statement of Comprehensive Income comprises of employer contributions paid to  
the GSS (concurrent contributions), the WSS, the GESBS, or other superannuation fund. The employer contribution 
paid to the GESB in respect of the GSS is paid back into the Consolidated Account by the GESB.

Employees commencing employment prior to 16 April 2007 who were not members of either the Pension Scheme or the 
GSS became non-contributory members of the West State Superannuation Scheme (WSS). Employees commencing 
employment on or after 16 April 2007 became members of the GESB Super Scheme (GESBS). From 30 March 2012, 
existing members of the WSS or GESBS and new employees became able to choose their preferred superannuation 
fund. The Department makes concurrent contributions to GESB or other funds on behalf of employees in compliance 
with the Commonwealth Government's Superannuation Guarantee (Administration) Act 1992.  Contributions to these 
accumulation schemes extinguish the Department's liability for superannuation charges in respect of employees who are 
not members of the Pension Scheme or GSS.

The GESB makes all benefit payments in respect of the Pension Scheme and GSS, and is recouped from the Treasurer 
for the employer's share.
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 Note 5. Disclosure of changes in accounting policy and estimates

 

AASB 1054

AASB 2009-12

AASB 2010-4

 

 

AASB 2010-5

AASB 2010-6

AASB 2011-1

AASB 2011-5

 

Initial application of an Australian Accounting Standard
The Department has applied the following Australian Accounting Standards effective for annual reporting periods 
beginning on or after 1 July 2011 that impacted on the Department.

Australian Additional Disclosures

This Standard, in conjunction with AASB 2011-1 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards 
arising from the Trans-Tasman Convergence Project, removes disclosure requirements from other 
Standards and incorporates them in a single Standard to achieve convergence between Australian and 
New Zealand Accounting Standards. There is no financial impact.

Australian Additional DisclosuresAmendments to Australian Accounting Standards [AASB 5, 8, 108, 110, 112, 119, 133, 137, 139, 1023 
& 1031 and Int 2, 4, 16, 1039 & 1052]

This Standard makes editorial amendments to a range of Australian Accounting Standards and 
Interpretations. There is no financial impact.

Further Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from the Annual Improvements Project 
[AASB 1, 7, 101 & 134 and Int 13]

The amendments to AASB 7 clarify financial instrument disclosures in relation to credit risk. The carrying 
amount of financial assets that would otherwise be past due or impaired whose terms have been 
renegotiated is no longer required to be disclosed. There is no financial impact.

The amendments to AASB 101 clarify the presentation of the Statement of Changes in Equity. The 
disaggregation of other comprehensive income reconciling the carrying amount at the beginning and the 
end of the period for each component of equity  can be presented in either the Statement of Changes in 
Equity or the Notes. There is no financial impact.

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards [AASB 1, 3, 4, 5, 101, 107, 112, 118, 119, 121, 132, 
133, 134, 137, 139, 140, 1023 & 1038 and Int 112, 115, 127, 132 & 1042]

This Standard makes editorial amendments to a range of Australian Accounting Standards and 
Interpretations. There is no financial impact.

Australian Additional Disclosures

This Standard, in conjunction with AASB 2011-1 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards 
arising from the Trans-Tasman Convergence Project, removes disclosure requirements from other 
Standards and incorporates them in a single Standard to achieve convergence between Australian and 
New Zealand Accounting Standards. There is no financial impact.

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - Disclosures on Transfers of Financial Assets [AASB 
1 & 7]

This Standard introduces additional disclosure relating to transfers of financial assets in AASB 7. An 
entity shall disclose all transferred financial assets that are not derecognised and any continuing 
involvement in a transferred asset, existing at the reporting date, irrespective of when the related 
transfer transaction occurred. There is no financial impact.

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from the Trans-Tasman Convergence Project 
[AASB 1, 5, 101, 107, 108, 121, 128, 132 & 134 and Int 2, 112 & 113]

This Standard, in conjunction with AASB 1054, removes disclosure requirements from other Standards 
and incorporates them in a single Standard to achieve convergence between Australian and New 
Zealand Accounting Standards. There is no financial impact.

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards  - Extending Relief from Consolidation, the Equity 
Method and Proportionate Consolidation [AASB 127, 128 & 131]

This Standard extends the relief from consolidation, the equity method and proportionate consolidation 
by removing the requirement for the consolidated financial statements prepared by the ultimate or any 
intermediate parent entity to be IFRS compliant, provided that the parent entity, investor or venturer and 
the ultimate or intermediate parent entity are not-for-profit non-reporting entities that comply with 
Australian Accounting Standards. There is no financial impact.
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  Operative for

 reporting periods

 beginning 

on/after
   

AASB 9

 

AASB 10

 

AASB 11

 

AASB 12

 

AASB 13

 

AASB 119

 

Future impact of Australian Accounting Standards not yet operative
The Department cannot early adopt an Australian Accounting Standard unless specifically permitted by TI 1101 
Application of Australian Accounting Standards and Other Pronouncements .  Consequently, the Department has not 
applied early any of the following Australian Accounting Standards that have been issued that may impact the 
Department.  Where applicable, the Department plans to apply these Australian Accounting Standards from their 
application date.

1 Jan 2013Consolidated Financial Statements

This Standard supersedes requirements under AASB 127 Consolidated and 
Separate Financial Statements and Int 112 Consolidation - Special Purpose Entities, 
introducing a number of changes to accounting treatments.

The Standard was issued in August 2011. The Department has not yet determined 
the application or the potential impact of the Standard.

1 Jan 2013Joint Arrangements

This Standard supersedes AASB 131 Interests in Joint Ventures, introducing a 
number of changes to accounting treatments.

The Standard was issued in August 2011. The Department has not yet determined 
the application or the potential impact of the Standard.

1 Jan 2013Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities

This Standard supersedes disclosure requirements under AASB 127 Consolidated 
and Separate Financial Statements, AASB 128 Investments in Associates and AASB 
131 Interests in Joint Ventures.

The Standard was issued in August 2011. The Department has not yet determined 
the application or the potential impact of the Standard.

1 Jan 2013Financial Instruments

This Standard supersedes AASB 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and 
Measurement, introducing a number of changes to accounting treatments.

The Standard was reissued in December 2010. The Department has not yet 
determined the application or the potential impact of the Standard.

1 Jan 2013Fair Value Measurement

This Standard defines fair value, sets out a framework for measuring fair value and 
requires disclosures about fair value measurements. There is no financial impact.

1 Jan 2013Employee Benefits

This Standard supersedes AASB 119 (October 2010). As the Department does not 
operate a defined benefit plan, the impact of the change is limited to measuring 
annual leave as a long-term employee benefit. The resultant discounting of the 
annual leave benefit has an immaterial impact.
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  Operative for

 reporting periods

 beginning 

on/after
   

AASB 127

 

AASB 128

 

AASB 1053

 

AASB 2009-11

 

AASB 2010-2

 

AASB 2010-7

 

AASB 2011-2

 

1 Jan 2013Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures

This Standard supersedes AASB 128 Investments in Associates, introducing a 
number of changes to accounting treatments.

The Standard was issued in August 2011. The Department has not yet determined 
the application or the potential impact of the Standard.

1 Jul 2013Application of Tiers of Australian Accounting Standards

This Standard establishes a differential financial reporting framework consisting of 
two tiers of reporting requirements for preparing general purpose financial 
statements. There is no financial impact.

1 Jul 2013Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 9 [AASB 1, 3, 4, 
5, 7, 101, 102, 108, 112, 118, 121, 127, 128, 131, 132, 136, 139, 1023 & 1038 and 
Int 10 & 12]

[Modified by AASB 2010-7]

1 Jan 2013Separate Financial Statements

This Standard supersedes requirements under AASB 127 Consolidated and 
Separate Financial Statements, introducing a number of changes to accounting 
treatments.

The Standard was issued in August 2011. The Department has not yet determined 
the application or the potential impact of the Standard.

1 Jul 2013Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from Reduced Disclosure 
Requirements [AASB 1, 2, 3, 5, 7, 8, 101, 102, 107, 108, 110, 111, 112, 116, 117, 
119, 121, 123, 124, 127, 128, 131, 133, 134, 136, 137, 138, 140, 141, 1050 & 1052 
and Int 2, 4, 5, 15, 17, 127, 129 & 1052]

This Standard makes amendments to Australian Accounting Standards and 
Interpretations to introduce reduced disclosure requirements for certain types of 
entities. There is no financial impact.

1 Jan 2013Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 9 (December 
2010) [AASB 1, 3, 4, 5, 7, 101, 102, 108, 112, 118, 120, 121, 127, 128, 131, 132, 
136, 137, 139, 1023 & 1038 and Int 2, 5, 10, 12, 19 & 127]

This Standard makes consequential amendments to other Australian Accounting 
Standards and Interpretations as a result of issuing AASB 9 in December 2010. The 
Department has not yet determined the application or the potential impact of the 
Standard.

1 Jul 2013Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from the Trans-Tasman 
Convergence Project - Reduced Disclosure Requirements [AASB 101 & 1054]

This Standard removes disclosure requirements from other Standards and 
incorporates them in a single Standard to achieve convergence between Australian 
and New Zealand Accounting Standards for reduced disclosure reporting. There is 
no financial impact.
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  Operative for

 reporting periods

 beginning 

on/after
   

AASB 2011-6

 

AASB 2011-7

 

AASB 2011-8

 

AASB 2011-9

 

AASB 2011-10

 

AASB 2011-11

 

AASB 2012-1

 

1 Jan 2013Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from the Consolidation and 
Joint Arrangements Standards [AASB 1, 2, 3, 5, 7, 9, 2009-11, 101, 107, 112, 118, 
121, 124, 132, 133, 136, 138, 139, 1023 & 1038 and Int 5, 9, 16 & 17]

This Standard gives effect to consequential changes arising from the issuance of 
AASB 10, AASB 11, AASB 127 Separate Financial Statements and AASB 128 
Investments in Associates and Joint  Ventures. The Department has not yet 
determined the application or the potential impact of the Standard.

1 Jan 2013Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 13 [AASB 1, 2, 
3, 4, 5, 7, 9, 2009-11, 2010-7, 101, 102, 108, 110, 116, 117, 118, 119, 120, 121, 
128, 131, 132, 133, 134, 136, 138, 139, 140, 141, 1004, 1023 & 1038 and Int 2, 4, 
12, 13, 14, 17, 19, 131 & 132]

This Standard replaces the existing definition and fair value guidance in other 
Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations as a result of issuing AASB 13 
in September 2011. There is no financial impact.

1 Jul 2012Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - Presentation of Items of Other 
Comprehensive Income [AASB 1, 5, 7, 101, 112, 120, 121, 132, 133, 134, 1039 & 
1049]

This Standard requires to group items presented in other comprehensive income on 
the basis of whether they are potentially reclassifiable to profit or loss subsequently 
(reclassification adjustments). The Department has not yet determined the 
application or the potential impact of the Standard.

1 Jul 2013Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards  - Extending Relief from 
Consolidation, the Equity Method and Proportionate Consolidation - Reduced 
Disclosure Requirements [AASB 127, 128 & 131]

This Standard extends the relief from consolidation, the equity method and 
proportionate consolidation by removing the requirement for the consolidated 
financial statements prepared by the ultimate or any intermediate parent entity to be 
IFRS compliant, provided that the parent entity, investor or venturer and the ultimate 
or intermediate parent entity comply with Australian Accounting Standards or 
Australian Accounting Standards - Reduced Disclosure Requirements. There is no 
financial impact.

1 Jan 2013Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 119 
(September 2011) [AASB 1, 8, 101, 124, 134, 1049 & 2011-8 and Int 14]

This Standard makes amendments to other Australian Accounting Standards and 
Interpretations as a result of issuing AASB 119 in September 2011.  There is limited 
financial impact.

1 Jul 2013Amendments to AASB 119 (September 2011) arising from Reduced Disclosure 
Requirements

This Standard gives effect to Australian Accounting Standards - Reduced Disclosure 
Requirements for AASB 119 (September 2011). There is no financial impact.

1 Jul 2013Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - Fair Value Measurement -
Reduced Disclosure Requirements [AASB 3, 7, 13, 140 & 141]

This Standard establishes and amends reduced disclosure requirements for 
additional and amended disclosures arising from AASB 13 and the consequential 
amendments implemented through AASB 2011-8. There is no financial impact.
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 Note 6. Employee benefits expense

2012 2011

$000 $000

Wages and salaries (a) 8,485 8,489

Superannuation - defined contribution plans (b) 829 819

9,314 9,308

 

 

 Note 7. Supplies and services

2012 2011

$000 $000

Communications 181 176

Consultants and contractors 1,479 1,280

Consumables 426 263

Repairs and maintenance 480 82

Travel 86 83

Advertising and promotion 25 17

Motor vehicle leasing 54 71

Office equipment leasing 16 12

Insurance  142 66

Legal services - Resources received free of charge 126 175

Other 260 111

3,275 2,336

 Note 8. Depreciation and amortisation expense  

2012 2011

$000 $000

Depreciation

Furniture equipment 19 19

Office equipment 65 59

Total depreciation 84 78

Amortisation
Intangible assets 233 200

Total amortisation 233 200

Total depreciation and amortisation 317 278

 Note 9. Accommodation expenses

2012 2011

$000 $000

Lease rentals 1,207 933

Resources received free of charge 5 6

1,212 939

(b) Defined contribution plans include West State and Gold State (contributions paid).

The charge was a levy applied by Government for the use of its capital. The final charge was levied in 2006-07.

(a) Includes the value of the fringe benefit to the employee plus the fringe benefits tax component, leave entitlements 
including    

superannuation contribution component.

(b) Defined contribution plans include West State, Gold State and GESB Super Scheme (contributions paid).

Employment on-costs expenses, such as workers' compensation insurance, are included at note 11 'Other expenses'.

Employment on-costs liability is included at note 21 'Provisions'.
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 Note 10. Net gain/(loss) on disposal of non-current assets

2012 2011

$000 $000

Costs of disposal of non-current assets
Plant and equipment 0 (1)                

Net gain/(loss) 0 (1)                

 Note 11. Other expenses 
2012 2011
$000 $000

Restoration costs 13 8

Employment on-costs 13 22

Other employee related expenses 179 118

Audit fee (a)
 126 172

  331 320

  

 Note 12. User charges and fees

2012 2011

$000 $000

Recoups for services provided:

Net Appropriation Revenues

Gaming and Wagering Commission of Western Australia 4,811 4,200

Racing Penalties Appeal Tribunal 159 154

Commonwealth Government 88 87

Liquor fees and other charges 5,553 4,593

10,611 9,034

 Note 13. Income from State Government

2012 2011

$000 $000

Appropriation received during the period:

 - Service appropriation  (a)
3,858 3,615 0 0

3,858 3,615

Resources received free of charge (b) 

Determined on the basis of the following estimates provided by agencies:

Department of Treasury 

    - Building and Management Works 5 6

Department of Attorney General

    - Legal services 125 175

130 181

3,988 3,796

 

 

(a) Service appropriations fund the net cost of services delivered. Appropriation revenue comprises a cash component 
and a receivable (asset). The receivable (holding account) comprises the depreciation expense for the year and any 
agreed increase in leave liability during the year.

(b) Assets or services received free of charge or for nominal cost are recognised as revenue at fair value of the assets 
and/or services that can be reliably measured and which would have been purchased if they were not donated. 
Contributions of assets or services in the nature of contributions by owners are recognised direct to equity.

(a) Audit fee, see also note 28 'Remuneration of auditor'.
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 Note 14. Restricted cash and cash equivalents

2012 2011

$000 $000

Current

Special purpose accounts (refer to note 24) 18 15

18 15

Non-current

Accrued salaries suspense account (a)
218 96

218 96

 Note 15. Receivables

2012 2011

$000 $000

Current

Receivables  90 85

Allowance for impairment of receivables 0 0

Other receivables  678 426

GST receivable 83 68

Prepayments 111 0

Total current 962 579

Total receivables 962 579

Credit Risk

 Note 16. Amounts receivable for services (Holding Account)

2012 2011

$000 $000

Current 150 50

Non-current 1,784 1,696

1,934 1,746

Credit Risk

(a) Funds held in the suspense account used only for the purpose of meeting the 27th pay in a financial year that occurs 
every 11 years.

Ageing of receivables past due but not impaired based on the information provided to senior Receivables individually determined as impaired at the balance sheet date:The Department does not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements as security for receivables.

The Department has a significant exposure to the Gaming and Wagering Commission of Western Australia. 
The Commission is expected to settle its debt of $620,030 (2011: $407,415) in due course.

Ageing of receivables past due but not impaired based on the information provided to senior Receivables individually determined as impaired at the balance sheet date:Represents the non-cash component of service appropriations. it is restricted in that it can only be used for asset 
replacement or payment of leave liability.
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 Note 17. Plant and equipment

2012 2011

$000 $000

Furniture equipment

     At cost  193 193

     Accumulated depreciation  (59)              (40)              

 134 153

Office equipment

     At cost  551 551

     Accumulated depreciation  (423)            (358)            

 128 193

Sub-total  262 346

Add: Work in progress  375 19

Total  637 365
 

                                                                                                     Furniture Office Work in

                                                                                                  equipment equipment progress Total

                                                                                          $000 $000 $000 $000

2012

 Carrying amount at start of period 153 193 19 365

 Additions 0 0 418 418

 Transfers 0 0 (62)              (62)              

 Depreciation (19)              (65)              0 (84)              

 Carrying amount at end of period 134 128 375 637

                                                                                                     Furniture Office Work in

                                                                                                  equipment equipment progress Total

                                                                                          $000 $000 $000 $000

2011

Carrying amount at start of period 172 43 79 294

Additions 0 209 347 556

Disposals 0 0 (407)            (407)            

Depreciation (19)              (59)              0 (78)              

Carrying amount at end of period 153 193 19 365

Reconciliations of the carrying amounts of plant and equipment at the beginning and end of the reporting period are set 
out in the table below.
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 Note 18. Intangible assets

2012 2011

$000 $000

Computer software

     At cost 3,901 3,839

     Accumulated amortisation (2,023)         (1,790)         

 1,878 2,049

Reconciliations:

Computer software

Carrying amount at start of period 2,049 1,842

Transfers 62 407

Amortisation expense (233)            (200)            

Carrying amount at end of period 1,878 2,049

 Note 19. Impairment of assets

 Note 20. Payables

2012 2011

$000 $000

Current 

Trade payables 311 116

Other payables 480 48

Accrued expenses 112 268

Accrued salaries 198 218

Total current 1,101 650

There were no indications of impairment to plant and equipment, or intangible assets at 30 June 2012.

The Department held no goodwill or intangible assets with an indefinite useful life during the reporting period. At the end 
of the reporting period there were no intangible assets not yet available for use.

All surplus assets at 30 June 2012 have been written-off.
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 Note 21. Provisions

2012 2011

$000 $000

Current 

Employee benefits provision   

Annual leave (a) 367 247

Long service leave (b) 901 628

1,268 875

Other provisions

Employment on-costs (c) 137 87

137 87

1,405 962

Non-current 

Employee benefits provision   

Long service leave (b) 488 775

488 775

 Other provisions

Employment on-costs (c) 52 78

Restoration costs (d) 194 181

246 259

734 1,034

2012 2011

$000 $000

Within 12 months of the end of the reporting period  367 247

More than 12 months after the end of the reporting period  0 0

367 247

2012 2011

$000 $000

Within 12 months of the end of the reporting period  901 628

More than 12 months after the end of the reporting period  488 775

1,389 1,403

Movements in other provisions

2012 2011

$000 $000

Restoration costs provisions

Carrying amount at start of period 181 174

Additional provisions recognised 13 7

Carrying amount at end of period 194 181

Employment on-cost provision

Carrying amount at start of period 165 152

Additional provisions recognised 24 13

Carrying amount at end of period 189 165

(b) Long service leave liabilities have been classif ied as current where there is no unconditional right to defer settlement for at least 12 
months af ter the end of  the reporting period. Assessments indicate that actual settlement of  the liabilities is expected to o ccur as 
follows:

(c) The settlement of annual and long service leave liabilities gives rise to the payment of employment on-costs including 
workers' compensation insurance. The provision is the present value of expected future payments. 

The associated expense, apart from the unwinding of the discount (finance cost), is disclosed in note 11 'Other expenses'.

(d) At the termination of the lease, the Department has a legal or constructive obligation to dismantle and restore the property at 
Level 1, Hyatt Centre, East Perth. The total restoration cost is estimated at $200,000. The present value of the year to date cost 
is $194,650. 

The associated expense, apart from the unwinding of the discount (finance cost), is disclosed in note 11 'Other expenses'.

Movements in each class of  provisions during the f inancial year, other than employee benef its, are set out below.

(a) Annual leave liabilities have been classif ied as current as there is no unconditional right to defer settlement for at least 12 months 
af ter the end of  the reporting period. Assessments indicate that actual settlement of  the liabilities is expected to occur as follows:
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 Note 22. Other liabilities

2012 2011

$000 $000

Current

Special purpose accounts (refer to note 24)  18 15

Fees in trust  52 31

Total current 70 46

 Note 23. Equity

Contributed equity

2012 2011

$000 $000

Balance at start of period 454 454

Balance at end of period 454 454

Accumulated surplus/(deficit) 

2012 2011

$000 $000

Balance at start of period 2,209 2,561

Result for the period 150 (352)            

Balance at end of period 2,359 2,209

Total Equity at end of period 2,813 2,663

 Note 24. Special purpose accounts

Special Purpose Account

 Indian Ocean Territories Reimbursement Trust Fund

2012 2011

$000 $000

Balance at start of period 15 12

Receipts 90 90

Payments (87)              (87)              

Balance at end of period 18 15

The Indian Ocean Territories Reimbursement Trust Fund was established in March 1996 and became operational in July 
1996.

The purpose of the account is to hold funds received from the Commonwealth, for services provided by the Department in 
relation to the regulation of liquor operations on Christmas and Cocos Islands. The balance of the trust fund at the end of 
the financial year is held in the Department's operating account.

The figures presented below for the Trust Fund have been prepared on a cash basis.

The Government holds the equity interest in the Department on behalf of the community. Equity represents the residual 
interest in the net assets of the Department.  
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 Note 25. Notes to the Statement of Cash Flows

2012 2011

$000 $000

 Reconciliation of cash

Cash and cash equivalents 476 505

Restricted cash and cash equivalents 236 111

712 616

 Reconciliation of net cost of services to net cash flows provided by/(used in) operating activities

2012 2011

$000 $000

Net cost  of services          (3,838)          (4,148)

Non-cash items:

Depreciation and amortisation expense 317 278

Resources received free of charge 130 181

Net (gain)/loss on disposal of plant and equipment 0 1

 (Increase)/decrease in assets:

Current receivables (a)             (354)             (385)

Increase/(decrease) in liabilities:

Current payables 
(a)

              (47) 76

Current provisions 443 194

Non-current provisions             (300) 29

 

Net GST receipts/(payments) (b)                28               (14) 

Change in GST in receivables/payables (c)               (13) 48

Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities  (3,634)         (3,740)         

  

  

 Note 26. Commitments                                                                                                                                                                                            

 Non cancellable operating lease commitments

2012 2011

$000 $000

Within 1 year 910 905

Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 65 935

Later than 5 years 0 0

975 1,840

 

  

Capital expenditure commitments

2012 2011

$000 $000

Within 1 year 2,547 0

Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 1,820 0

Later than 5 years 0 0

4,367 0

Cash at the end of the financial year as shown in the Statement of Cash Flows is reconciled to the related items in the 
Statement of Financial Position as follows:

Commitments for minimum lease payments are payable as follows:

Non-cancellable lease commitments include property, office equipment and motor vehicle leases. The property lease is a 
non-cancellable lease with a three year term, with rent payable monthly in advance. Contingent rent provisions within the 
lease agreement require that the minimum lease payments shall be increased by 3.5% per annum. An option exists to 
renew the lease at the end of the three year term for an additional term of two years.

(a) Note that the Australian Taxation Off ice (ATO) receivable/payable in respect of  GST and the receivable/payable in respect of  the
sale/purchase of  non-current assets are not included in these items as they do not form part of  the reconciling items.

(b) This is the net GST paid/received, i.e. cash transactions.
(c) This reverses out the GST in receivables and payables.

At the end of the reporting period, the Department had fully drawn on all financing facilities, details of which are disclosed 
in the financial statements.

The commitments below are exclusive of GST where relevant.

Capital expenditure commitments, being contracted capital expenditure additional to 
the amounts reported in the financial statements, are payable as follows: 



P a g e  | 72 

 

Other expenditure commitments

2012 2011

$000 $000

Within 1 year 230 189

Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 0 0

Later than 5 years 0 0

230 189

 Note 27. Remuneration of senior officers

  

2012 2011
$

30,001 - 40,000 1 1

140,001 - 150,000 0 1

170,001 - 180,000 2 0

180,001 - 190,000 0 1

200,001 - 210,000 1 0
410,001 - 420,000 0 1
420,001 - 430,000 1 0

   

$000 $000

  Total remuneration of senior officers 1,014 791

 Note 28. Remuneration of auditor

2012 2011

$000 $000

Auditing the accounts, financial statements and key performance indicators 68 65

Compliance audit 60 105

128 170

The number of senior officers whose total fees, salaries, superannuation, non-monetary benefits and other benefits for 
the financial year fall within the following bands are:   

The total remuneration includes the superannuation expense incurred by the Department in respect of senior officers.

Remuneration paid or payable to the Auditor General (a) in respect of the audit for the current financial year is as follows:

(a) The fee for the 2010-11 audit ($65,300) was due and payable in the 2011-12 financial year.

The fee for the 2011-12 audit ($68,000) will be due and payable in the 2012-13 financial year.

Other expenditure commitments, namely administrative expenditure, contracted for at 
the end of the reporting period but not recognised as liabilities, are payable as follows: 
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 Note 29. Explanatory statement

 2012 2012

 Estimate Actual Variance

 $000 $000 $000

4,358 3,858            (500) 

2012 2011 Variance

 $000 $000 $000

 Total appropriation provided to deliver services for the year (a) 3,858 3,615 243

    

 Total income (b) 10,611 9,034 1,577

 

Service Expenditure

Significant variances between estimate and actual for 2012

2012 2012

 Estimate Actual Variance

$000 $000 $000

Service 1 - Evaluation and determination of applications 6,549 7,379 830
 

Service 2 - Compliance audits and inspections 6,445 7,070 625

 

 

2012 2011 Variance

 $000 $000 $000

 

Service 1 - Evaluation and determination of applications 7,379 6,766 613

Service 2 - Compliance audits and inspections 7,070 6,416 654

 

The Summary of Consolidated Fund Appropriations and Revenue Estimates discloses appropriations and other statutes expenditure estimates, the 

Total appropriations provided to deliver services

Significant variances between estimate and actual for 2012

Significant variations between estimates and actual results for income and expense as presented in the financial 
statement titled 'Summary of Consolidated Account Appropriations and Income Estimates' are shown below. Significant 
variations are considered to be those greater than 10% or $100,000.

The increase in the expenditure of Service 1 and Service 2 was mainly due to the increased expenditure associated with 
the filling of vacant positions, positions reclassification as a result of an office restructure, increase in employee leave 
entitlements, and an increase in the information technology acquisitions.

The increase in the expenditure of Service 1 and Service 2 was mainly due to the increased expenditure associated with 
the filling of vacant positions, positions reclassification as a result of an office restructure, increase in employee leave 
entitlements, and an increase in the information technology acquisitions.

Total appropriations provided to deliver services

(a) Total appropriation provided to deliver services for the year - The variance of $243,000 was largely attributed to the 
funding to cover the increase in the office accommodation, and funding for the replacement of desk top computers.

(b) Total income- The variance of $1.58 million was due to the higher fee revenues and recoupment from the statutory 
authorities.

Significant variances between actual results for 2012 and 2011

Significant variances between actual results for 2012 and 2011

The variance was due to return of monies to the Department of Treasury at year end.
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 Note 29. Explanatory statement (contd)

Total administered transactions

Significant variances between estimate and actual for 2012, and actuals for 2012 and 2011

 2012 2012

 Estimate Actual Variance

 $000 $000 $000
 

Administered grants and transfer payments 102,277 96,330 5,947

Amount Authorised by Other Statutes 5,000 2,093 2,907

  - Liquor Control Act 1988

107,277 98,423

 

2012 2011 Variance

 $000 $000 $000

Administered grants and transfer payments 96,330 88,241 8,089
    

Amount Authorised by Other Statutes 2,093 1,855 238

  - Liquor Control Act 1988

98,423 90,096

 

 

 2012 2012

 Estimate Actual Variance

 $000 $000 $000

Casino tax 115,000 108,126 6,874

 

  

2012 2011 Variance

 $000 $000 $000

Casino tax 108,126 89,626 18,500

 

  

Capital contribution

Significant variances between estimate and actual for 2012
No variances.

Significant variances between actual results for 2012 and 2011
No capital contribution was received. Funding for capital expenditure was made through the drawdown of the holding 
account.

Administered Grants and Transfer Payments

Administered grants and transfer payments

Administered Income

Significant variance between estimate and actual for 2012, and actuals for 2012 and 2011

Administered Grants and Transfer Payments

Administered grants and transfer payments

2010 casino gross revenue was higher than budgeted.

2012 Casino Taxable Revenue was higher than the 2011 revenue.

Administered Grants and Transfer Payments
The claims for GST gambling rebates lodged were significantly lower than anticipated.  An amount of $5.947 million 
unexpended administered appropriation related to GST gambling rebates was returned to the Department of Treasury at 
year end.

Amount Authorised by Other Statutes - Liquor Control Act 1988
The claims for liquor subsidies lodged were significantly lower than anticipated.

2012 Casino Taxable Revenue was lower than budgeted.

Administered Grants and Transfer PaymentsAdministered Grants and Transfer Payments
The claims for administered grants and transfer payments in 2012 were higher than those in 2011. The claims included 
GST gambling rebates, problem gambling, racecourse infrastructure, and the tax incentive for the Racing and Wagering 
Western Australia.

Amount Authorised by Other Statutes - Liquor Control Act 1988
The claims lodged in 2012 were higher than those in 2011.

Administered grants and transfer payments
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 Note 30. Financial instruments 

  (a) Financial risk management objectives and policies

  (b) Categories of financial instruments

2012 2011

$000 $000

Financial Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 476 505

Restricted cash and cash equivalents 236 111

Receivables (a) 2,813 2,257

 

Financial Liabilities

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost 1,171 696

(a) The amount of receivables excludes GST recoverable from the ATO (statutory receivable).

The Office has subrogated commitments in respect of leasing arrangements made by the Government Property Office for office accommodation and 

Financial instruments held by the Department are cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash and cash equivalents, receivables , and 

Financial instruments held by the Department are cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash and cash equivalents, receivables , and 

Market risk
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices such as foreign exchange rates and interest rates will affect the 
Department's income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The Department does not trade in foreign 
currency and is not materially exposed to other price risks. 

The Department is not exposed to interest rate risk because all cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash are non-
interest bearing, and have no borrowings.

The carrying amounts of each of the following categories of financial assets and financial liabilities at the end of the 
reporting period are:

Financial instruments held by the Department are cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash and cash equivalents, receivables and 

Financial instruments held by the Department are cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash and cash equivalents, receivables , and 

Financial instruments held by the Department are cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash and cash equivalents, 
receivables and payables. The Department has limited exposure to financial risks. The Department's overall risk 
management program focuses on managing the risks identified below.

Credit risk
Credit risk arises when there is the possibility of the Department's receivables defaulting on their contractual obligations 
resulting in financial loss to the Department. 

The maximum exposure  to credit risk at balance sheet date in relation to each class of recognised financial assets is the 
gross carrying amount of those assets inclusive of any allowance for impairment, as shown in the table at Note 30(c) 
'Financial Instruments Disclosures' and Note 15 'Receivables'.

Credit risk associated with the Department's financial assets is minimal because the main receivable is the amounts 
receivable for services (holding account). For receivables other than government, the Department trades only with 
recognised, creditworthy third parties. The Department has policies in place to ensure that sales of products and services 
are made to customers with an appropriate credit history. In addition, receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing 
basis with the result that the Department's exposure to bad debts is minimal. At the balance sheet date there were no 
significant concentrations of credit risk.

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk arises when the Department is unable to meet its financial obligations as they fall due.

The Department is exposed to liquidity risk through its trading in the normal course of business. 

The Department has appropriate procedures to manage cash flows by monitoring forecast cash flows to ensure that 
sufficient funds are available to meet its commitments.
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DEPARTMENT OF RACING, GAMING AND LIQUOR

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2012

 

Note 30.(c) Financial instrument disclosures (contd)

 

 Ageing analysis of financial assets

 

Past due but not impaired

Not past due Impaired

Carrying and not   3 months to  More than 5 financial

Amount impaired Up to 1 month 1-3 months 1 year 1-5 years years assets

 

 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

 

2012

Cash and cash equivalents 476 476 0 0 0 0 0 0

Restricted cash and cash equivalents 236 236 0 0 0 0 0 0

Receivables 
(a)

879 855 23 1 0 0 0 0

Amounts receivable for services 1,934 1,934 0 0 0 0 0 0

 3,525 3,501 23 1 0 0 0 0

2011

Cash and cash equivalents 505 505 0 0 0 0 0 0

Restricted cash and cash equivalents 111 111 0 0 0 0 0 0

Receivables 
(a)

511 501 10 0 0 0 0 0

Amounts receivable for services 1,746 1,746 0 0 0 0 0 0

 2,873 2,863 10 0 0 0 0 0

(a)
 The amount of receivables excludes the GST recoverable from the ATO (statutory receivable).

Credit risk 
The following table details the Department's maximum exposure to credit risk and the ageing analysis of financial assets. The Department's maximum 
exposure to credit risk at the end of the reporting period is the carrying amount of financial assets as shown below. The table discloses the ageing of financial 
assets that are past due but not impaired and impaired financial assets. The table is based on information provided to senior management of the Department.

The Department does not hold any collateral as security or other credit enhancements relating to the financial assets it holds.
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DEPARTMENT OF RACING, GAMING AND LIQUOR

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2012

 

Note 30. (c) Financial instrument disclosures (contd)

Liquidity risk and interest rate exposure

Interest rate exposure and maturity analysis of financial assets and financial liabilities

Interest rate exposure Maturity dates

 Weighted Fixed Variable Non-  

Average Carrying interest interest interest Nominal Up to 1  3 months to  More than 5

Effective Amount rate rate bearing Amount month 1-3 months 1 year 1-5 years years

Interest    

Rate

 % $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

2012

Financial Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 476 0 0 476 476 476 0 0 0 0

Restricted cash and cash equivalents 236 0 0 236 236 0 0 18 218 0

Receivables 
(a)

 879 0 0 879 879 879 0 0 0 0

Amounts receivable for services  1,934 0 0 1,934 1,934 0 0 150 500 1,284

 3,525 0 0 3,525 3,525 1,355 0 168 718 1,284

Financial Liabilities

Payables  1,101 0 0 1,101 1,101 1,101 0 0 0 0

Other financial liabilities  70 0 0 70 70 70 0 0 0 0

 1,171 0 0 1,171 1,171 1,171 0 0 0 0

(a)
 The amount of receivables excludes the GST recoverable from the ATO (statutory receivable).

The following table details the  Department's interest rate exposure and the contractual maturity analysis of financial assets and financial liabilities. The maturity analysis section includes interest and 
principal cash flows. The interest rate exposure section analyses only the carrying amounts of each item.
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DEPARTMENT OF RACING, GAMING AND LIQUOR

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2012

 

Note 30. (c) Financial instrument disclosures (contd)

Liquidity risk and interest rate exposure

Interest rate exposure and maturity analysis of financial assets and financial liabilities

Interest rate exposure Maturity dates

 Weighted Fixed Variable Non-  

Average Carrying interest interest interest Nominal Up to 1  3 months to  More than 5

Effective Amount rate rate bearing Amount month 1-3 months 1 year 1-5 years years

Interest    

Rate

 % $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

2011

Financial Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 505 0 0 505 505 505 0 0 0 0

Restricted cash and cash equivalents 111 0 0 111 111 0 0 15 96 0

Receivables 
(a)

 511 0 0 511 511 511 0 0 0 0

Amounts receivable for services  1,746 0 0 1,746 1,746 0 0 50 500 1,196

 2,873 0 0 2,873 2,873 1,016 0 65 596 1,196

Financial Liabilities

Payables  650 0 0 650 650 650 0 0 0 0

Other financial liabilities  46 0 0 46 46 46 0 0 0 0

 696 0 0 696 696 696 0 0 0 0

(a)
 The amount of receivables excludes the GST recoverable from the ATO (statutory receivable).

Interest rate sensitivity analysis

The Department is not exposed to interest rate risk because all cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash are non-interest bearing, and have no borrowings.

Fair values

All financial assets and liabilities recognised in the Statement of Financial Position, whether they are carried at cost or fair value, are recognised at amounts that represent a reasonable approximation 
of fair value unless otherwise stated in the applicable notes.
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 Note 31. Contingent liabilities and contingent assets

 Note 32. Events occurring after the end of the reporting period

 Note 33. Supplementary financial information

 (a) Write-offs

 (b) Losses through theft, defaults and other causes

2012 2011

$ $

Computer equipment reported stolen 7,167 712

7,167 712

The Department did not write off any public property, revenues and debts 
due to the State, during the financial year.

The Department is not aware of any matters or circumstances that have arisen since the end of the financial year to the 
date of this report which has significantly affected or may significantly affect the activities of the Department,  the results of 
those activities or the state of affairs of the Department in the ensuing or any subsequent year. 

The Department is not aware of any contingent liabilities and contingent assets at the end of the reporting period.
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DEPARTMENT OF RACING, GAMING AND LIQUOR

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2012

Note 34.  Administered expenses and income

2012 2011

$000 $000

COST OF SERVICES

Expenses

Transfer payments for liquor subsidies, gambling tax rebates, and other subsidies 100,303 85,069

Receipts paid into Consolidated Fund 125,850 113,554

Total administered expenses 226,153 198,623

Income   

Appropriations for liquor subsidies, gambling tax rebates, and other subsidies 98,423 90,096

Taxes collected under the Casino (Burswood Island) Agreement Act 1985 108,126 89,626

Other revenue 18,852 20,000

Total administered income 225,401 199,722
 

Note 35.  Administered assets and liabilities

2012 2011

$000 $000

Assets

Current

Cash and cash equivalents 4,205 6,290

Receivables 7,283 6,120

TOTAL ADMINISTERED ASSETS 11,488 12,410

Liabilities

Current

Payables 1,019 1,189

TOTAL ADMINISTERED LIABILITIES 1,019 1,189

Payables represent deferral of  GST gambling rebate, Equine Inf luenza f inancial assistance, capital grant payments, and 
Problem Gambling grant payments.

The Compliance audits and inspections of  the Department was responsible for the administration of  the Administered 
Transactions. The requirement to disclose the Administered Income and Expenses by Service is therefore not applicable.

An one-of f  receipt of  $18.852 million treated as 'Other revenue' was received f rom the Burswood Entertainment Complex 
during the year 2011-12 for a return of  GST Gambling Rebate.
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KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS  

Key performance indicators (KPIs) are required by the Financial Management Act 2006 
and are provided to assist interested parties such as Government, Parliament and 
community groups in assessing an agency‟s performance in meeting its desired 
outcomes. KPIs measure the effectiveness and efficiency of an agency. 
 
 

CERTIFICATION OF KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 

I hereby certify that the key performance indicators are based on proper records, are 
relevant and appropriate for assisting users to assess the performance of the Department 
of Racing, Gaming and Liquor, and fairly represent the performance of the Department of 
Racing, Gaming and Liquor for the financial year ended 30 June 2012. 
 
 
 
 
Barry A Sargeant 
DIRECTOR GENERAL 
 
27 July 2012 
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DETAILED INFORMATION IN SUPPORT OF KEY PERFORMANCE 
INDICATORS 

Desired outcome: To regulate, monitor and enforce responsible and lawful gambling 
and liquor services in accordance with legislation. 

 
Key Effectiveness 
Indicator 

2011/12 
Target 

2011/12 
Actual 

2010/11 
Actual 

2009/10 
Actual 

2008/09 
Actual 

Licensees / service 
providers that comply with 
audit requirements and 
statutory criteria7 

 
 

95% 

 
 

96% 

 
 

96% 

 
 

97% 

 
 

93% 

 
Conducting compliance audits and inspections contributes to the promotion, monitoring 
and enforcement of responsible and lawful gambling and liquor services. Effectiveness 
can be measured by the percentage of licensees and service providers that complied with 
audit requirements and statutory criteria. The higher the percentage of compliance, the 
more effective the enforcement programs are. 
 

Areas of non-compliance typically include: 

 conducting activities without a valid permit or licence, for example: 

 conducting gaming (e.g. bingo) when permit has expired; 

 liquor licence holders failing to maintain incident registers; 

 overcrowding at licensed premises; and 

 not having an approved manager on the premises.  

 breaching conditions of permits, for example: 

 permit holders failing to submit financial returns; 

 standard lotteries failing to maintain records; and 

 continuing lotteries failing to conduct monthly reconciliations. 

 
For example, in 2010/11 there were 9,761 instances of compliance and 446 instances of 
non-compliance, based on 10,207 inspections, audits and investigations conducted in 
2010/11.  
 
In 2011/12 there were 7,586 instances of compliance and 346 instances of non-
compliance, based on 7,932 inspections, audits and investigations conducted in 2011/12.  
 
An explanation for the decline in the number of inspections, audits and investigations is 
provided on page 85.      
                                                           
7
 The Key Effectiveness Indicator is calculated by determining the number of licensees/service providers that complied 

with audit requirements and statutory criteria as a percentage of the total number of audits/inspections conducted in the 
year. 
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Service 1: Licensing – Evaluation and determination of applications 
 

Key Efficiency Indicator 2011/12 
Target 

2011/12 
Actual 

2010/11 
Actual 

2009/10 
Actual 

2008/09 
Actual 

  
Average cost of determining 
applications8 
 

 
$468 

 
$483 

 
$469 

 
$485 

 
$351 

 
The evaluation and determination of applications contributes to promoting, monitoring 
and enforcing responsible and lawful gambling and liquor services by assessing 
applications for compliance with statutory and policy requirements. 
 
The average cost can change for each reporting year as a result of increases or 
reductions in the number of licences determined, combined with the cost of allocation to 
provide a licensing service. 
 
This means the more applications that are determined in a given year the less it costs on 
average to determine applications. Conversely, if fewer applications are determined in a 
given year, then it costs more on average to determine applications. 
 
For example, in 2010/11 there were 14,431 applications determined, and in 2011/12 
there were 15,269 applications determined. This means the difference is 838. A 
breakdown of the figures is provided in the table below: 
 
Licence Type 2010/11 

Actual 
2011/12  

Actual 
Difference 

Liquor 10,971 11,668 697 

Gaming 2,498 2,550 52 

Casino 962 1,051 89 

Totals 14,431 15,269 838 

 
However, it is noted that there are discrepancies between the projected 2011/12 costs 
($468) and the actual 2011/12 costs ($483); and between the actual 2010/11 costs 
($469) and the actual 2011/12 costs.  
 
These discrepancies are attributed to the Department receiving capital funding to develop 
the Unified Regulatory System as well as an increase in the expenditure for information 
technology equipment. The costs associated with the IT upgrades and purchases have 
been spread across both areas of service delivery, that is, licensing and compliance. 
 
 

                                                           
8
 The efficiency indicator for this activity is derived by dividing the cost of allocation for the activity by the number of 

licenses and permits determined. 
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Service 2: Compliance audits and inspection 
 

Key Efficiency Indicator 2011/12 
Target 

2011/12 
Actual 

2010/11 
Actual 

2009/10 
Actual 

2008/09 
Actual 

  
Average cost of 
conducting inspections9 
 

 
$645 

 
$891 

 
$629 

 
$453 

 
$449 

 
The conducting of compliance audits and inspections contribute to promoting monitoring 
and enforcing responsible and lawful gambling and liquor services through the promotion, 
monitoring and enforcement of responsible and lawful gambling and liquor services.  
 
The cost of inspections can change for each reporting year as a result of increases or 
reductions in the number of audits and inspections carried out, combined with the cost of 
allocation to provide a compliance service.  
 
This means the more investigations, audits and inspections conducted in a given year, 
the less it costs on average to conduct inspections. Conversely, if fewer investigations, 
audits and inspections are conducted in a given year, then it costs more on average to 
conduct an investigation. 
 
In 2010/11 there were 10,207 investigations, audits, inspections and assessments 
conducted; and in 2011/12 there were 7,932 investigations, audits, inspections and 
assessments conducted. This means the difference is 2,275. A breakdown of the figures 
is provided in the table below: 
 

Audits/Inspections/Investigations/Assessments 2010/11 
Actual 

2011/12 
Actual 

Difference 

Racing  535 333 202 

Lotterywest 761 754 7 

Gaming 747 398 349 

Casino 5,483 3,714 1,769 

Liquor 2,681 2,733 -52 

Totals 10,207 7,932 2,275 

 
  

                                                           
9
 The efficiency indicator for this activity is derived by dividing the cost of allocation for the activity by the number of 

inspections and audits conducted. 
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The reasons for the decline in numbers can be attributed to the following factors: 
 

 A reduction by three FTEs in the number of inspectors during the year. The staffing 
situation has slightly improved with the secondment of two FTE for a period of 12 
months, plus providing short term acting opportunities to staff from within the 
Department. Nevertheless, the impact of fewer inspectors plus the time taken to train 
new staff has resulted in a decline in the number of inspections, audits and 
investigations conducted. 
 

 The EGM seal check was not conducted on Good Friday this year, which means that 
approximately 1,900 EGM seals were not checked. Consequently, there is a 
significant difference in the figures over the last two years. 

 

 During 2011/12, the Department‟s organisational restructure program has focused on 
the Compliance Division. The time consumed in meetings and training development 
has resulted in less time dedicated to conducting investigations, audits, inspections 
and assessments. 
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MINISTERIAL DIRECTIVES 

The Department of Racing, Gaming and Liquor did not receive any Ministerial directives 
during 2011/12. 
 
 

OTHER FINANCIAL DISCLOSURES 

PRICING POLICIES OF SERVICES PROVIDED 

When analysing its fees and charges, the Department considers the Department of 
Treasury‟s recommendation that agencies‟ fees and charges should achieve full cost 
recovery where applicable. In addition, the Department also considers the Joint Standing 
Committee on Delegated Legislation‟s recommendations that fees and charges do not 
exceed cost recovery and/or do not cross subsidise.  
 
In setting fees, the Department recognises that not for profit organisations and charitable 
bodies form a large part of the Department‟s customer base. Fees for services levied 
under the respective Regulations should not pose a barrier to entry for those 
organisations attempting to raise funds through lawful liquor and gambling activities.  
 
The Department is fully aware that increasing the fees to meet cost recovery will actually 
impose barriers to entry, which the Department is reluctant to do. 
 
Consistent with the Department of Treasury‟s instructions, increases that approximate 
CPI or catch up on CPI applied over previous years are to be considered routinely by the 
Minister.  
 
The Department‟s fees and charges were increased on 1 January 2012. The list of fees 
and charges are available on the Department‟s website at www.rgl.wa.gov.au and are 
reviewed annually. 
 
 
CAPITAL WORKS 

The Department is working towards the development and delivery of a single, fully 
integrated citizen centric online application system, to deliver internal core business 
processes and customer integration. The system will include the online lodgement and 
tracking of applications and electronic document management, with the capability to 
interface with other agencies. 
 
The aim is also to develop a solid framework which is flexible enough to allow the easy 
implementation of more than 20 licence categories. The Department is using a phased 
approach to implement the system which will facilitate remote location access and 
timelier processing of applications. 
 

http://www.rgl.wa.gov.au/
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In May 2012, the Department launched an online application system for lodging liquor 
restricted premises applications. Part 5B of the Liquor Control Act 1988 enables the 
owner or occupier of a private premises or privately owned land to apply to the Director of 
Liquor Licensing to have the premises declared a restricted premises so it becomes an 
offence for a person to bring into, consume or possess liquor on those premises for a 
specified period.  
 
Applicants can submit their applications online and track their application‟s progress 
during the processing stage. Any additional information required by the Department can 
be electronically attached to the application.  
 
New Information Technology System 

The Department will spend $4.36 million over the next two years to develop and 
implement a Unified Regulatory System (URS) to replace legacy licensing systems. In 
addition, recurrent spending of $1.207 million will be spent over the next four years to 
maintain the URS and to upgrade or replace other IT infrastructure that has reached, or is 
reaching, the end of its lifespan. 
 
The Department‟s strategic objectives for service delivery will be met through updating 
and/or replacing critical infrastructure. The Department will be in a better position to 
deliver modern, effective and efficient services to the Western Australian community.  
 
These upgrades will support the Department‟s strategic goals of e-government and 
citizen-centric services by providing online licensing services to the community.  
 
 
EMPLOYMENT AND INDUSTRIAL RELATIONS 
 

THE DEPARTMENT’S STAFF PROFILE 

 2011/12 2010/11 

Full-time permanent 92 95 

Full-time contract 9 4 

Part-time measured on an FTE basis 9 16 

On secondment 0 1 

Total FTE 110 116 

 
The Department is committed to training and developing its employees. The Department 
aims to build a highly skilled, professional and ethical workforce with the ability to adapt to 
changing business, technology and environmental needs. 
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During the year, the Department‟s training and development program covered the 
following areas: 

 fire warden training 

 EEO awareness; 

 mediation training; 

 senior first aid; 

 occupational health and safety; 

 leadership development; 

 graduate development program; 

 workforce sustainability and development; 

 public sector induction; 

 cultural change management; 

 public sector reform; 

 coaching and mentoring; 

 corruption and misconduct; 

 job application and interview skills; 

 recruitment and selection; 

 IT systems and desktop applications; and 

 accountable and ethical decision-making. 

 
 
WORKERS’ COMPENSATION 

In 2011/12 one worker‟s compensation claim was lodged and accepted. 
 
 

GOVERNANCE DISCLOSURES 

CONTRACTS WITH SENIOR OFFICERS 

At the date of reporting, other than normal contracts of employment of service, no senior 
officers, or firms of which senior officers are members, or entities in which senior officers 
have substantial interests had any interests in existing or proposed contracts with the 
Department and senior officers. 
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OTHER LEGAL REQUIREMENTS 

ADVERTISING 

In accordance with section 175ZE of the Electoral Act 1907, the Department must report 
any expenditure incurred for advertising, market research, polling, direct mail and media 
advertising. 
 
Total expenditure for 2011/12 was $25,075 with expenditure incurred in the following 
areas: 
 

NAME OF ADVERTISING AGENCY $ 

Advertising Agencies Adcorp Australia Limited 25,075 

Government Agencies Nil 

Market research organisations Nil 

Polling organisations Nil 

Direct mail organisations Nil 

Media advertising organisations Nil 

Total 25,075 

 
 
DISABILITY ACCESS AND INCLUSION PLAN OUTCOMES 

The Department currently has in place a five-year Disability Access and Inclusion Plan 
(2007-12) that provides strategies to improve access to the services it provides. The 
Department has submitted its final DAIP Progress Report to the Disability Services 
Commission. The only outstanding matter is the ongoing development and deployment of 
online licensing services to the community. The Department will work on its next five-year 
Plan in 2012/13.  
 
 
COMPLIANCE WITH PUBLIC SECTOR STANDARDS AND ETHICAL CODES 

The Department encourages a culture of openness, honesty and responsibility which is 
set out in the customer service charter and code of conduct. This includes ensuring 
employees are provided with adequate training and materials to ensure they are fully 
aware of their ethical responsibilities and can deliver our services with integrity.  
 
The Department is committed to achieving high standards in ensuring compliance with 
the public sector standards, the WA Public Sector Code of Ethics and the Department‟s 
Code of Conduct. The Department is also committed to continually seeking opportunities 
to improve current practices through internal auditing, reviewing of policies and 
procedures and through performance management and feedback.  
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The following is an overview of the Department‟s activities with respect to compliance 
with public sector standards and ethical codes: 

 The Department has continued with its cultural change program across the agency. 
Part of the program is to encourage and model ethical values across the Department. 

 The Customer Service Charter is available on the Department‟s website. 

 The Department‟s induction training program provides new employees with 
information they need to know about the Department and its policies. Included in the 
program is training on the Department‟s Code of Conduct, which identifies the values 
that our staff collectively hold as fundamental in our work and describes how these 
values translate into action.  

 The Department continues to review its policies and procedures in accordance with 
the Public Sector Standards to ensure compliance and relevancy. In 2011/12, the 
Department reviewed and updated 19 policies, including the Code of Conduct. 

 When advertising for vacancies, the Department includes a job application package 
which includes, amongst other things, its vision, purpose and values.  

 The majority of employees attended Equal Opportunity awareness training in July and 
August 2012. 

 In February 2012, the Department provided Accountable and Ethical Decision Making 
training to those employees who had never completed the training before.  

 
 
RECORDKEEPING PLANS 

The Department is committed to continuously improving recordkeeping practices 
consistent with the State Records Act 2000 and aims for best practice recordkeeping 
practices.  
 
The following is an overview of the significant actions taken in 2011/12: 

 formal training and resources on records management provided to all new staff as 
part of their induction process. Follow-up training and help-desk support is also 
provided; and 

 continued scanning of all significant incoming correspondence to complement the 
saving of electronic mail (email) and facsimiles directly into the records management 
system. 
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GOVERNMENT POLICY REQUIREMENTS 

SUBSTANTIVE EQUALITY  

The Department of Racing, Gaming and Liquor is committed to the elimination of 
systematic racial discrimination from all policies and practices, in accordance with the 
Policy Framework for Substantive Equality. 
 
The Department is currently working with the Equal Opportunity Commission to consider 
the service that has the greatest impact on Aboriginal and ethnic minority groups, and to 
develop a strategy for progressing all levels of the Policy Framework for Substantive 
Equality. 
 

 
OCCUPATIONAL SAFETY, HEALTH AND INJURY MANAGEMENT 

As a responsible employer, the Department of Racing, Gaming and Liquor recognises 
and accepts its obligation to provide employees with, as far as practicable, the highest 
possible standards of safety. 
 
The achievement of this objective is both an individual and a shared responsibility that 
requires commitment from both management and employees. It is particularly important 
that responsibilities are accepted and a willingness to cooperate in the elimination of 
workplace hazards is demonstrated by all. 
 
The Department believes that workplace accidents and injuries are preventable and the 
safety and health of employees is paramount. The Department‟s Occupational Health and 
Safety Policy commits the Department to the provision of a safe and healthy working 
environment for all employees through the provision of a comprehensive safety and 
health program that complements the operations of the Department. In meeting its 
responsibilities, the Department undertakes to provide and maintain, as far as 
practicable, a working environment that is safe and without risks to health.  
 
In particular the Department will:  

 provide and maintain safe plant, equipment and systems of work;  

 make and monitor arrangements for the safe use, handling, storage, and transport of 
plant and substances; 

 maintain the workplace in a safe and healthy condition; 

 provide health surveillance for designated staff; 

 provide adequate resources to implement the policy and programs introduced for the 
safety and health of all employees; and 

 provide information, training and supervision for employees so that all work related 
activities may be conducted in a safe and healthy manner.  
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CONSULTING EMPLOYEES ON OHS AND INJURY MANAGEMENT ISSUES 

The Director Governance and Strategy and the Occupational Health and Safety 
Committee are responsible for coordinating consultations on OHS issues. In the past 12 
months, this has included consultations on a range of issues and the following policies 
and initiatives were discussed, reviewed or implemented: 

 Updating OHS related policies and procedures. 

 Updating OHS related reporting documentation. 

 Department OHS representatives attended OHS training. 

 First aid training for shift inspectors. 

 Continuation of the health surveillance program to monitor shift inspectors assigned to 
work in the Burswood Entertainment Complex‟s internal rooms where they are 
exposed to environmental tobacco smoke. 

 A Hepatitis B vaccination program was made available to all shift inspectors. 

 A flu vaccination program was made available to all employees in April 2011.  
 
 
INJURY MANAGEMENT 

The Department‟s Governance and Strategy Division coordinates the implementation of 
the Occupational Health and Safety Program and provides consultancy and advisory 
services on legislation, best practice and other initiatives associated with the program. 
 
The Department‟s Occupational Health and Safety Committee, with assistance from the 
Governance and Strategy Division, developed the Occupational Health and Safety 
Program and Policy, which was considered by both management and employees.  
 
The Occupational Health and Safety Program requires that employees at all levels 
understand and accept specific responsibilities associated with their positions. The safety 
and health program includes strategies to prevent incidents and accidents in the 
workplace, such as: 

 induction and training; 

 safe work procedures and guidelines on safe behaviour; 

 provision for workplace inspections; 

 display of safety information; 

 publishing of emergency procedures; 

 first aid and emergency assistance; 

 incident reporting and investigation; 

 a rehabilitation program; and 

 an employee assistance program. 
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ASSESSMENT OF OHS MANAGEMENT SYSTEMS  

The Department is committed to ensuring its OHS management systems are fit for 
purpose. 
 
 
LOST TIME INJURY SEVERITY RATE  

INDICATOR 2011/12 TARGET 2011/12 ACTUAL 

Number of fatalities Zero (0) Zero (0) 

Lost time injury/disease incidence rate 
Zero (0) or 10% 
reduction on 
previous years 

 
1.89 (2 LTI) 

Lost time injury severity rate 
 

Zero (0) or 10% 
improvement on 
previous year 

Zero (0) 

Percentage of injured workers returned to work 
within:  

i) 13 weeks 

ii) 28 weeks 
 

Actual percentage 
result to be reported 

Percentage of injured 
workers returned to 
work within: 

i) 100% 

ii) N/A 
 

Percentage of managers trained in 
occupational safety, health and injury 
management responsibilities  

Greater than or 
equal to 50% 

95% 

 
 
 

 


